






























































































































































































Memo 
To:    Mayor and City Council 

From:    Ricky Sanchez, Planner II 

CC:    Scott Lambers, City Administrator 
Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 

    Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date of Meeting: May 18, 2020 

Date of Memo:  March 5, 2020 

Re: The Planning Commission recommends approval unanimously (7-0) Case 20-20, Leawood 
Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-4-5.4, Required Parking Ratios, 
pertaining to enclosed parking spaces within areas zoned MXD.  

The amendment proposes to clarify the number of totally enclosed parking spaces per residential unit within an 
MXD zoned development. 

Currently, the Leawood Development Ordinance states that within an MXD zoned development, two parking 
spaces are required per residential unit, plus 3.0 to 3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet of lease space.  

The proposed amendment will clarify that two parking spaces are required per residential unit, one of which to be 
totally enclosed, and 3.0 to 3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 gross square feet.  

CHANGES MADE BY PLANNING COMMISSION: 

 The Planning Commission modified the ordinance to include the words “non-residential space” after “gross SF” 
to clarify that the required parking ratio of 3.0 to 3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 gross square feet applies to non-
residential only. 
From: 
 

District Land Use Designation Parking Requirements – Number of Spaces 

MXD Mixed Use 2 per residential unit (1 totally enclosed) + 3.0 to 3.5 
per 1,000 gross SF  

 
To: 

District Land Use Designation Parking Requirements – Number of Spaces 

MXD Mixed Use 2 per residential unit (1 totally enclosed) + 3.0 to 3.5 
per 1,000 gross SF non-residential space. 

 

City of Leawood  
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Leawood Development Ordinance   Article 4 Page 1  

16-4-5.4  Required Parking Ratios 

A) The following table sets forth the minimum required parking ratios.  Parking requirements may be 
modified on a project basis with supporting traffic engineering/ parking plan approved by the City.  

B) All land uses included herein shall provide 1 space/employee on the maximum shift.  Additional 
spaces shall be provided for certain uses, as follows:  

1) Art Gallery.  1 per 500 square feet gross area. 

2) Auditorium.  1 for every 4 permanent seats plus 1 per 100 square feet area devoted to 
assembly use.  Without permanent seating 1 per 50 square feet floor area devoted to 
assembly use. 

3) Automobile Service Station.  3 spaces plus 1 space for each service bay. 

4) Churches & Synagogues.  1 space for each 3 permanent seats. 

5) Convenience Store.  5 per 1000 square feet gross area. 

6) Convalescent & Nursing Homes.  1 space for each 2 beds. 

7) Day Care Center.  1.5 per employee on maximum shift. 

8) Elementary/Jr./High School.  1 space for each teacher and staff member. 

PARKING RATIOS 

District Land Use Designation Parking Requirements – Number of 
Spaces 

AG; RP-A5; R-1; RP-1; 
RP-2 

Residential-Single Family 2 per unit (totally enclosed) 

RP-3 

RP-4 

Residential-Multi-Family 

 

2 per unit (totally enclosed) 

2 per unit (1 totally enclosed) 

MXD Mixed Use-Residential and 
Commercial 

2 per residential unit (1 totally enclosed) + 3.0 
to 3.5 per 1,000 gross SF lease space non-
residential space 

SD-0 Commercial-Office 3.0 to 4.0 per 1,000 SF lease space 

SD-NCR; SD-CR Commercial-Retail 3.5 to 4.5 per 1,000 SF lease space 

SD-NCR; SD-CR Commercial-Service 

 

3.5 to 4.5 per 1000 SF lease space, except 
food related - 1 per 2 seats, 2 per service bay, 
or alternative by parking study.   

REC Open/Civic Space 1 per 10 persons rated capacity 
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9) Funeral Home.  1 per 100 square feet of viewing area or other public area. 

10) Golf Course.  50 spaces for each 9 holes. 

11) Health Club.  1 per 200 square feet plus 1 per employee on maximum shift. 

12) Hospitals.  0.35 spaces per bed plus 0.95 spaces per doctor and 0.35 spaces per 
employee. 

13) Hotels.  1 space per bedroom plus 1 space per employee.  Restaurants & meeting rooms 
included in the hotel shall provide an additional parking space for each 4 seats of seating 
capacity. 

14) Movie Theater.  1 for each 3 permanent seats plus 1 per employee on maximum shift. 

15) Retirement Community.  0.27 per dwelling unit (weekday) and 1 per dwelling unit 
(Sunday). 

16) Swim Club.  10 per employee (Saturday). 

C) The following provisions shall govern the computation of required off-street parking and loading 
spaces: 

1) Where computation of required off-street parking spaces results in a fractional number, 
the required spaces for the use shall be the next higher whole number. 

2) Where more than one use is established on a single lot, the off-street parking and loading 
requirements for the lot shall be the sum of the separate requirements for each use 
established on the lot. 

3) Where a lawful use exists at the time of adoption of this Ordinance that is deficient in the 
provision of required off-street parking, any new use hereafter established in its place 
shall conform to the parking requirements of this Ordinance.  

D) A proposed parking area that exceeds the number of spaces required in the ordinance may not be 
permitted without approval of the City.  For applications to exceed required parking ratios, 
applicant shall submit a detailed traffic/parking generation study prepared by a registered 
engineer.  

E) Joint Use of Required Parking Spaces 

1) One parking area may contain required spaces for several different uses, but except as 
otherwise provided herein, the required space assigned to one use may not be credited to 
any other use. 

2) To the extent that developments that wish to make joint use of the same parking spaces 
operate at different times, the same spaces may be credited to both uses.  For example, if 
a parking lot is used in connection with an office building on Monday through Friday but is 
generally 90% vacant on weekends, another development that operates only on 
weekends could be credited with 90% of the spaces on that lot.  Or, if a church parking lot 
is generally occupied only to 50% of capacity on days other than Sunday, another 
development could make use of 50% of the church lot's spaces on those other days. 

(Ord. 2001, 07-07-2003) 
(Ord. 2745, 08-25-2015) 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 
February 25, 2020 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 
Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 
Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, 
Block, and Peterson. Absent: Stevens 
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
 
A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion 
carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 
Coleman, Block, Peterson. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the January 28, 2020 
Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  On Page 19, under my comments, the sixth line down should read 
“grave” rather than “brave.” 
 
Comm. McGurren:  On Page 19, under my comments, it should read “short-term.” 
 
Comm. Peterson:  On Page 2, it should be “Peterson.” 
 
A motion to approve the corrected minutes from the January 28, 2020 Planning 
Commission meeting was made by Belzer; seconded by McGurren. Motion carried 
with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, 
Block, Peterson. 
 
CONTINUED TO THE MARCH 25, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING: CASE 01-20 – CORNERSTONE OF LEAWOOD – ONSPRING 
HEADQUARTERS – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th 
Street and east of Nall Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:  
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
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to everything except single-family, and the next section refers to everything allowed 
within single-family that has districts associated with it. In the first section that applies to 
allowed roofing material for non-single-family, it referred to single-family as a use. The 
second section referred to single-family districts. We’ve run into problems with that 
situation because in single-family districts, many other uses are allowed with a Special 
Use Permit, including schools, churches, independent living facilities, and assisted living 
facilities. Many of these wouldn’t fit with the residential style. We would like to clarify 
the intent of the ordinance, which is to allow single-family homes to have asphalt 
shingles. The other uses would have to follow the guidelines for commercial buildings. 
That is typically how we have applied it; we are merely trying to correct the 
incongruence in the ordinance. Staff is recommending approval, and I’d be happy to 
answer any questions.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Klein? I was struggling a bit with this. 
Do we achieve all that you described simply by changing the caption for Section D? I 
haven’t read it with great detail, but this surprises me. 
 
Mr. Klein:  In this case, we think it does. We looked at the rest of the ordinance. This 
would allow single-family homes in mixed-use districts to have asphalt shingles, which 
staff thinks is appropriate. We have incurred instances with an applicant wanting asphalt 
shingles on buildings that have parking lots and light fixtures and act more like a 
commercial building. That is the reason for the clarification. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? Because this is an amendment to the 
LDO, a Public Hearing is in order. 
 
Public Hearing 
 
As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 
Hoyt; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 
McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to discussion. Are there comments? If not, is there a 
motion? 
 
A motion to recommend approval of CASE 19-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 
ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-10.3, MATERIALS AND 
COLORS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development 
Ordinance, pertaining to the use of asphalt shingles on non-residential buildings – 
was made by Hoyt; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-
0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Peterson. 
 
CASE 20-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 
SECTION 16-4-5.4, REQUIRED PARKING RATIOS – Request for approval of an 
amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to covered parking 
requirements in Mixed Use zoned areas. PUBLIC HEARING 
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Staff Presentation: 
Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 
 
Mr. Klein:  This is Case 20-20 – Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to 
Section 16-4-5.4, Required Parking Ratios. This amendment deals with parking 
requirements within the MX-D district. Parking within an MX-D district includes all the 
uses, meaning MX-D allows all uses except Planned Business District (BP). When it 
came to parking, a multi-family building within an MX-D district had to meet the 
requirements of multi-family districts in RP-4, which has a requirement of two parking 
spaces per unit, one of which must be totally enclosed. This amendment clarifies that it 
does apply in MX-D. We’ve had questions about that. Again, the way it was interpreted 
was that all of the uses in the Table of Uses, along with all the regulations associated with 
those particular districts, would carry forward into the MX-D. This clarifies that a multi-
family building requires two parking spaces per unit, one of which must be totally 
enclosed. The reason for that interpretation is we are trying to create a village-type setting 
with walkability in MX-D districts. When surface parking is increased, walkability is 
reduced significantly. Staff is recommending approval for this application, and I’m happy 
to answer any questions.  
 
Comm. McGurren:  Does the definition of “totally enclosed” include a single-space 
parking garage? Would it also include an open-air parking garage? 
 
Mr. Klein:  We have always included open-air parking garages.  
 
Comm. McGurren:  Does this include the top level of a parking garage with no enclosure 
over it? 
 
Mr. Klein:  Yes. 
 
Comm. Block:  I don’t know if I understand the range in this table. It says 3.02-3.15 per 
1,000. Can they not have four? 
 
Mr. Klein:  That is correct. Before this current ordinance, most uses had a parking 
minimum. For commercial, everything had a minimum of 5 per 1,000. If the developer 
wanted 12 per 1,000, nothing in the ordinance prevented it, and we noticed that many of 
these parking lots sat empty most of the time. When this ordinance was adopted back in 
2002, we established a minimum and maximum in all the zoning districts. The parking 
ratio for the MX-D district is a little bit lower than commercial because of shared 
parking.  
 
Comm. Block:  The MX-D developments are Park Place and Mission Farms? 
 
Mr. Klein:  Parkway Plaza, too.  
 
Comm. Block:  How are those treated now? Do they all meet this proposal? 
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Mr. Klein:  They all meet it. 
 
Mr. Coleman:  This is really a clarification. All of those already meet this requirement. In 
MX-D, parking studies are often submitted so the ratio of spaces is reduced.  
 
Comm. Block:  Can they get that in a variance? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  No, they can do that by submitting a study. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  On that point, the parking ratio is called a requirement, so it seems to 
mandate two per residential unit, one of which is totally enclosed. How would one get a 
variance away from that? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  In the parking study, it would still require one to be enclosed, but the 
surface parking could be reduced in order to use more land for structures or apartments. 
Instead of being two spaces per unit, a developer could do a study that shows one use 
versus another allows for shared parking.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  The narrative in Subsection A states that these are minimum required 
ratios and that the requirements may be modified on a project basis based on traffic 
engineering parking plan approval by the city.  
 
Mr. Coleman:  We’ve had people question it because the ordinance doesn’t specifically 
require the two spaces in MX-D. This is meant to clarify that.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  This is a matter of semantics. It requires two per residential unit, one 
of which is totally enclosed, plus 3.0-3.5 per 1,000 gross square footage. Does the square 
footage of the residential unit count in that? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  No, it is referencing the other uses, including retail and office. That is 
what we would normally call for in those uses. It’s up to 4 spaces in retail and 3.5 in 
office. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Reading it literally, I see that it says 2 per residential unit plus 3.0-3.5 
per 1,000. Maybe the right response for the drafting would be, “per 1,000 gross non-
residential.” 
 
Mr. Coleman:  Is there a reason we took out lease space? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Most of the time when we get plans, we don’t know what the lease space 
is. They can break up the inside however they want to. Normally, all we get is the gross 
square footage of the building. That is why we entered gross square footage. We would 
be okay with inserting “non-residential.” 
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Comm. Peterson:  On Page 5, it discusses a retirement community. How does someone 
come up with 0.27 per dwelling unit on a weekday and 1 per dwelling unit on a Sunday? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  A lot of it is taken from studies of these apartment building uses. I think 
this came from the ITE (International Traffic Engineering) handbook. They have a list of 
different types of uses and the parking requirements for them. These are based on actual 
use counts. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  .27 seems like a precise number. 
 
Mr. Coleman:  Yes. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  It suggests that folks living in retirement communities don’t have cars.  
 
Mr. Coleman:  They have fewer cars.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Are there other questions? If not, this is another amendment to the 
LDO, and a Public Hearing is required. 
 
Public Hearing 
 
Kevin Jeffries, Leawood Chamber and Economic Development Council, 13451 Briar 
Drive, Suite 201, Leawood, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the 
following comments: 
 
Mr. Jeffries:  You mentioned some of the MX-D developments, but keep in mind that the 
entire 135th Street Corridor is set up as MX-D. We have been talking to a lot of apartment 
and multi-family developers. The trend is away from one enclosed unit per dwelling unit. 
Most of the other apartment complexes along 135th Street find that they cannot even lease 
if they have .6 per dwelling unit. It is not an industry trend, and it drives the cost of 
building apartments up substantially in Leawood. Mr. McGurren and I happened to have 
a conversation about what parking places cost. They are very expensive to add. As far as 
adding more surface area, it depends on how they are laid out. Car ports count in some 
cases. Do people want enclosed spaces to store their stuff, or do they want to keep a car 
out of the snow? A covered space would do that. I just think we, as a city, have been 
having these discussions thought our Economic Development Council, and we need to 
start thinking about being market friendly. Those of you who went to the joint meeting 
with the City Council and Planning Commission know that the cost of building housing 
in Leawood is quite a bit higher than the average values in Leawood because 70% of our 
housing is valued at under $625,000, and everything that is being built is over that. If we 
want people to stay in Leawood, by forcing that requirement of the parking garage on 
that, it pushes up the cost. One of my staff lived in Overland Park. She and her husband 
each paid $200 extra per month for an enclosed parking garage for their housing. I just 
wanted to bring that up as a practical piece of policy. We really need to start thinking 
about autonomous vehicles coming on more, which will lead to fewer cars. We just need 
to think about that as a community. 
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Chairman Elkins:  You make good points there. You mentioned $200 per month, but can 
you give us a sense of the cost differential for an enclosed space versus a parking field? 
 
Mr. Jeffries:  I have not done any actual studies yet on that. I’m just stating what every 
apartment developer we’ve talked to has stated. They don’t typically do that many. 
We’ve probably talked to 6-8 who are interested in various parts along the 135th Street 
Corridor. Many of them will not want to build here because of that requirement. There 
are others who think it’s fine. It just depends on their mentality and how high they want 
their rents to be. There are some who will, and we’ve had them build here. I just know 
it’s really limiting our market as far as monthly rents we’ll have to charge for people to 
live in these complexes.  
 
Chairman Elkins: You make a good point. You really raise two separate issues. I’d be 
curious for your thoughts on how they relate to each other. One is the question of the 
requirement of totally enclosed parking spaces. You mentioned autonomous cars and the 
potential for reduction in the need for parking altogether. Can you talk about how those 
issues relate to each other?  
 
Mr. Jeffries:  We’ve talked to Burns & McDonnell about autonomous vehicles. They say 
we’ll have them prevalent in 20 years. If that is the case, we may have to change our 
policy later because we won’t need as many spaces. The way that relates to the enclosed 
parking is it adds cost. My son lived by Top Golf and had enclosed parking, but there 
were parking garages separate from the apartment building that took up as much ground 
space. They would meet our requirements, though.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  In those conversations, I’m trying to understand the link between 
autonomous vehicles and the reduced need for parking. Is the assumption that we won’t 
own our own vehicles? 
 
Mr. Jeffries:  Yes. Uber will be autonomous vehicles, so we will need fewer tires per 
household. Who knows how long that will be? We just don’t know for sure; it’s just 
something to think about as we plan for the future of our community. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Other questions for Mr. Jeffries? Thank you. Is there a motion to close 
the Public Hearing? 
 
A motion to close the Public Hearing was made by Hoyt; seconded by Belzer. 
Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 
Coleman, Block, Peterson. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  That brings us to a discussion of the proposed amendment, especially 
in light of the comments made by Mr. Jeffries.  
 
Comm. Coleman:  I was looking at Mr. Klein during Mr. Jeffries’s comments. I went two 
years ago to the National Planning Conference annual meeting. There were several 
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different seminars on autonomous vehicles. Like Mr. Jeffries mentioned, it’s not if 
they’re coming; it’s when. A lot of those seminars discussed what we need to do to 
change our regulations going forward and that they would be so prevalent that it would 
be like the rollout of cell phones. With that being said, I don’t see where we’re at a point 
to change our regulations, thinking that might come. I think that it’s something we 
consider for the future, but right now, I think we have to still assume the current 
regulations and assume the current ratios with enclosed spots.  
 
Comm. Block:  I agree with Mr. Jeffries and what he said about detaching these. I think 
the idea is that they’re tucked within the building, and the building goes up instead of out. 
To his point, do any of our current MX-D developments have detached, covered parking? 
 
Mr. Klein:  Currently, we don’t. It’s something we’ve addressed as it’s been proposed. 
It’s not that they don’t technically meet the enclosed parking space requirement; the 
problem is that it also causes a visual blockage. We’re talking about MX-D developments 
here, and we want to try to maintain as few barriers as possible. Mr. Jeffries indicated it 
would be more parking but that it is a matter of designing it, but often, we get into other 
restrictions. For instance, we have the 60/40 rule makes the buildings closer. We think 
it’s a good thing that provides more presence on the public right-of-way. It allows 
parking to be hidden behind. That means parking areas are limited. Creating the 
additional parking has a tendency to push buildings apart, which is not what this type of 
development is meant to do. 
 
Comm. Block:  I appreciate Mr. Jeffries’s comments, but for my vote, we’ve required all 
these other developments to put their parking in as described in as this change, and I 
think it should stay that way. I concur with Commissioner Coleman. It only takes a 
month or less than a month to change our ordinance. When that day comes, we can make 
the change. There is no need to account for that today in our ordinance. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I would note that one of the things I see in the LDO as it stands right 
now is that it does present flexibility. This isn’t an absolute mandate of either the covered 
spaces or the density parking spots. Those parking spaces may be modified on a project-
by-project basis, depending on what the traffic study says. I would encourage Mr. 
Jeffries, when talking with the various developers, while there are certainly no promises, 
to make sure they understand that flexibility. Other comments? If not, is there a motion? 
 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 20-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 
ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-5.4, REQUIRED PARKING 
RATIOS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development 
Ordinance, pertaining to covered parking requirements in Mixed Use zoned areas – 
including the addition of the words, “non-residential space” after “gross square 
footage” on Page 4 - was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion carried with 
a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, 
Peterson. 
 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood Governing Body Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    May 18, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   February 26, 2020 
 

CAMELOT COURT – WATERWAY GAS AND WASH COMPANY – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
REVISED FINAL PLAN FOR CHANGES TO THE EXTERIOR WASHING AND DRYING STATIONS – 
Located north of 119th Street and west of Tomahawk Creek Parkway – Case 11-20  

 
Following the Planning Commission Meeting, the property owner notified the applicant that they 
were not supportive of new parking lot light fixtures within the washing and drying stations, but 
want to keep the existing light fixtures in their current locations. The property owner is supportive 
the existing light fixture within the parking lot island to be moved with the island. The lighting 
plan that was approved by the Planning Commission (Exhibit A) is included along with the 
lighting plan that is now proposed (Exhibit B).   
 
A Revised Plan has also been provided showing vehicle circulation. (Exhibit C). 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:   
The Planning Commission recommends approval (6-1) of Case 11-20, Camelot Court – Waterway Gas 
and Wash Company – request for approval of a Revised Final Plan for changes to the washing and 
drying stations, with the stipulations listed below: 
1. The project is limited to changes to the exterior washing and drying stations and the shifting of the 

parking lot island. 
2. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Camelot Court. 
3. A building permit is required prior to demolition and installation. 
4. Prior to review by the Governing Body, the applicant shall provide an updated photometric study 

meeting the requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
5. The proposed light poles and light fixtures shall match the poles and color temperature existing on 

the site and within the Camelot Court development.  
6. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all parking lot light fixtures associated with this project 

shall be a maximum of 18’ in height.   
7. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light fixtures 

shall not be visible.   
8. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
9. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 
10. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a) All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b) All parking lot islands shall be bermed to discourage foot traffic. 
c) All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
d) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
e) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
f) All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
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11. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 
final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

12. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
13. The applicant shall provide an updated vehicle circulation study to address the circulation between 

the new parking lot island and the first row of gas pumps prior to Governing Body Consideration. 
14. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through fourteen. 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION CHANGES TO STIPULATIONS: 

 Stipulation 13 Added 
The applicant shall provide an updated vehicle circulation study to address the circulation between 
the new parking lot island and the first row of gas pumps prior to Governing Body Consideration. 
 

 Stipulation 14 (Previously Stipulation 13) 
From:  
In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through thirteen. 
To: 
In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through fourteen. 

 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Mike Goldman with Waterway Gas and Wash 

 The property is owned by MD Management, Inc. 

 The engineer is Matt Eblen with McClure Engineering 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to expand the washing and drying 
stations on the exterior of the building by adding an additional bay. 

 The addition of an additional bay will require that the existing island separating the washing/drying 
stations and the gas station, be shifted to the east. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north of the property is a vacant lot owned by the City of Leawood zoned 
SD-CR. North of the vacant property is the City of Leawood Justice Center also 
zoned SD-CR 

 South Directly south of the property, across from 119th Street, is the Trader Joe’s Grocery 
Store located within the Town Center Crossing Retail Development, zoned SD-CR. 

 East Directly east of the property, across Tomahawk Creek Parkway, is park property 
owned by the City of Leawood, zoned REC (Planned Recreation)  

 West West of the property is a multi-tenant retail building within the Camelot Court retail 
development, zoned SD-CR. 

 
LOCATION: 

 
 
SITE PLAN: 

 The applicant is proposing to add an additional bay for vehicle washing and drying. The additional 
space will be placed to the east of the existing vehicle washing and drying bays. 

 To accommodate the additional bay, the existing island will have to be shifted approximately 14’ to 
the east, closer to the gas station. 

 There are two existing light fixtures currently located within the vehicle washing and drying bays. The 
applicant is proposing to replace the existing light poles with four new poles within the vehicle 
washing and drying bays. An additional light pole is proposed to be at the southern point of the 
shifted island. 

 The new island will be constructed of reinforced concrete pavement and will have a new prefinished 
aluminum handrail on the west side of the island to be grey in color. 

 An existing landscaped area is located within the island which is proposed to be removed. The 
existing plantings will be substituted for other plant material within the property.  

 Three new vacuum cleaners will be installed (two being replaced) for the new vehicle washing and 
drying bay.  

 
SIGNAGE:   

 No signage is proposed with this application. 

 Camelot Court has sign criteria recommended by the Planning Commission and approved by the 
Governing Body. 
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LANDSCAPING 

 With the parking lot island being shifted to the east, the existing landscape bed will be removed. The 
site still meets the requirement of 30% greenspace for the property. 

 The applicant will be extending an existing landscape bed to allow for the same number of plant 
materials which were existing in the parking lot island to remain on the property. 

 The applicant is proposing Sea Green Junipers and Tiger Eye Sumac shrubs. 

 No additional landscaping changes have been proposed on the site  
 
LIGHTING: 

 The applicant is not proposing any new parking lot light fixtures with this application, but will move the 
existing parking lot light fixture in the island with the relocation of the island. This is a change from the 
plans approved by the Planning Commission, which proposed to replace the two existing light poles 
in the car drying and washing stations with four new light poles in that same area, and an additional 
light pole at the southern end of the shifted parking lot island.  

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance 16-2-9.2, the parking lot lighting shall have an initial 
average uniformity ratio of 4 to 1 (average foot candle over minimum foot candle). The applicant has 
provided a photometric study that shows an average uniformity ratio of 10.61 over 1. Staff has 
included a stipulation stating that the applicant shall provide an updated photometric study that 
shows they are in conformance with the Leawood Development Ordinance prior to review by the 
Governing Body. 

 No additional lighting changes have been proposed on the site.  
 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The current photometric study shows that the site is not meeting the requirements of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. The applicant shall provide an updated photometric study prior to 
evaluation by the Governing Body, showing that the site meets the lighting requirements of the 
Leawood Development Ordinance or what is being proposed is less of a non-conformity than the 
current lighting on the site (Stipulation 4). 

 The light poles and light fixtures proposed with this application shall match the existing poles and 
color temperature within the site, and those within the Camelot Court retail development (Stipulation 
5).  The applicant is not proposing any new parking lot light fixtures with this application, but 
will move the existing parking lot light fixture in the island with the relocation of the island. 
This is a change from the plans approved by the Planning Commission, which proposed to 
replace the two existing light poles in the car drying and washing stations with four new light 
poles in that same area, and an additional light pole at the southern end of the shifted parking 
lot island. 

 The new extension to the landscape bed shall meet the requirement of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance stating that all shrubs shall be 24” at the time of planting (Stipulation 9). 
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Luminaire Schedule

Symbol Qty LLF Description

5 0.900 MRM-LED-18L-SIL-5W-40-70CRI

Calculation Summary

Label Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min

property line Fc 1.53 10.1 0.0 N.A. N.A.

site Fc 9.55 28.0 0.9 10.61 31.11

Tag

A

GENERAL NOTES:

1. DRAWING FOR PHOTOMETRIC PURPOSES ONLY.

2. LIGHTING LAYOUT WAS BASED ON LSI MIRADA MEDIUM MRM.

EACH LUMINARE SHALL BE ADJUSTED AND LEVELED TO MATCH

THE ELEVATION OF THE PAVEMENT.

3. NEW FIXTURES AND POLES SHALL MATCH MANUFACTURER AND

COLOR SELECTION PREVIOUSLY USED WATERWAY LOCATION.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY VOLTAGE PRIOR TO ORDERING

FIXTURES.

5. MOUNTING HEIGHT OF FIXTURES SHALL BE 18'.

EXISTING VACUUM BAY AREA CALCULATIONS MEASURE AN AVERAGE OF 25 FOOTCANDLES. MINIMAL LEVEL

FOOTCANDLES RECOMMENDED FOR VACUUM AREA IS 25 FC.

THE REQUIRED  4:1 AVERAGE TO MIN. PER 16-2-9.2 OF THE LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE CAN NOT BE

ACHIEVED WITH VACUUM AREA INCLUDED IN OVERALL PARKING LOT CALCULATIONS DUE TO EXISTING EAST

LIGHTING.

NEW ILLUMINANCE (FC) LEVELS FOR ONLY VACUUM AREA:

AVERAGE=20.67   MAXIMUM=28.5   MINIMUM=10.1   AVG/MIN=2.05

MAX/MIN=2.82

 NEW A FIXTURE

PHOTOMETRIC SITE PLAN

CITY PHOTOMETRIC REVIEW

2-18-2020

DKD DKD

DKDMLD

190185-000

02-18-2020

richards
Text Box
Exhibit A - Previously Proposed Photometric Study
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Calculation Summary
Label Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min
property line Fc 1.55 9.7 0.0 N.A. N.A.
site Fc 9.05 27.9 1 9.05 27.90

RELOCATED ISLAND FIXTURE-MT. HEIGHT 18'

richards
Text Box
Exhibit B - Newly Proposed Photometric Study
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FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLANS
WATERWAY GAS & WASH COMPANY

4200 W. 119TH STREET

PREPARED & SUBMITTED BY:

1700 SWIFT STREET, SUITE 100
NORTH KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64116

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PROJECT HAS BEEN DESIGNED AND
THESE PLANS WERE PREPARED TO MEET OR EXCEED THE
DESIGN CRITERIA OF THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, KANSAS.

____________________________________
ENGINEER

     _______________
      DATE

REVIEWED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD'S
DESIGN CRITERIA AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS.

_________________________      _______________
DAVID LEY,      DATE
ENGINEER

APPROVED FOR ONE YEAR FROM THE ABOVE DATE.

McCLURE

INDEX OF SHEETS
SHEET NO. C000 COVER SHEET

SHEET NO. C002 FINAL SITE GRADING PLAN
SHEET NO. C001 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHY

®

Know what'sbelow.
Callbeforeyou dig.

PROJECT BENCHMARKS

GENERAL NOTES
1. ALL WORKMANSHIP AND MATERIALS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE INSPECTION AND

APPROVAL OF CITY OF LEAWOOD, KANSAS.
2. THE UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS ARE TAKEN FROM UTILITY

COMPANY RECORDS AND ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY.  THEY DO NOT CONSTITUTE
ACTUAL FIELD LOCATIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THE LOCATION AND
DEPTH OF ALL UTILITIES PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT ALL TREES FROM DAMAGE.  NO TREE SHALL BE
REMOVED WITHOUT PERMISSION OF THE OWNER, UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE.

4. CLEARING AND GRUBBING OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL OF ALL DEBRIS SHALL BE
PERFORMED BY THE CONTRACTOR IN STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH ALL LOCAL CODES
AND ORDINANCES.

5. ALL MANHOLES, CATCH BASINS, UTILITY VALVES AND METER PITS TO BE ADJUSTED
OR REBUILT TO GRADE AS REQUIRED.  ALL EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE ADJUSTED
AS REQUIRED

6. ALL EXCESS AND UNSUITABLE MATERIAL SHALL BE DISPOSED OF AT A LOCATION OFF
SITE PROVIDED BY THE CONTRACTOR.

BENCHMARK                                            ELEV.: 867.31
SQUARE CUT ON LIGHT POLE BASE LOCATED APPROX. 82
FEET NE OF CORNER OF CAR WASH BUILDING.

OWNER
WATERWAY GAS & WASH CO.
727 GODDARD AVENUE
CHESTERFIELD, MO 63005

UTILITY NOTES
1. VISUAL INDICATIONS OF UTILITIES ARE AS SHOWN.  UNDERGROUND LOCATIONS SHOWN, AS FURNISHED BY THE

RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANIES, ARE APPROXIMATE AND SHALL BE VERIFIED IN THE FIELD AT THE TIME OF
CONSTRUCTION.  FOR ACTUAL FIELD LOCATIONS OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, CALL 811 FOR KANSAS AND
MISSOURI.

2. THE NAME AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF UTILITY COMPANIES, EVEN IF REMOTELY INVOLVED WITH THIS PROJECT
ARE AS FOLLOWS:

POWER : KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT                CABLE TV : TIME WARNER CABLE
816-471-5275 816-353-7788
ENGINEERING CONTACT: ENGINEERING CONTACT:
ERIC BOWEN GREG THOMAS
16215 W. 108TH ST. 8221 W. 119TH ST.
LENEXA, KS  66219 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66213
913-894-3082 913-643-1950
EMAIL: eric.bowen@kcpl.com EMAIL: greg.thomas@twcable.com

GAS : KANSAS GAS SERVICE                               TELEPHONE :AT&T
1-888-482-4950 1-800-246-8464
ENGINEERING CONTACT: ENGINEERING CONTACT:
TONY CELLITTI BRUCE UNDERWOOD
11401 W. 89TH STREET 9444 NALL
OVERLAND PARK, KS  66214 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66207
913-599-8981 913-383-4919
EMAIL: tony.cellitti@oneok.com EMAIL: bu3084@att.com

WATER : WATERONE                                                SEWER : JOHNSON COUNTY WASTEWATER
913-895-1800 11811 S. SUNSET DR, SUITE 2500
ENGINEERING CONTACT: OLATHE, KANSAS 66061-7061
JAN HARDIE 913-715-8500/913-715-8501 (FAX)
10747 RENNER BLVD JENNIFER HARDER P.E., ENGINEERING
LENEXA, KS  66219 LONNIE PONDER, SENIOR INSPECTOR,
913-895-5726 EMAIL: lponder@jcw.org (913)207-5232
EMAIL: jhardie@waterone.org

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
LOT 10 OF CAMELOT COURT SHOPPING CENTER, A SUBDIVISION OF
LAND NOW IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS.

CITY OF LEAWOOD, KANSAS
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SHEET NO. C103 FINAL DEVELOPMENT SITE PLAN

SHEET NO. E101 PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

SHEET NO. C100 EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
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DEMOLITION LEGEND

DENOTES FULL DEPTH

ASPHALT REMOVAL.

DENOTES CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL

DENOTES FULL DEPTH

CONCRETE REMOVAL

DENOTES VERT. CURB REMOVAL

DENOTES HANDRAIL REMOVAL
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R=10.06'

22.70'

R=60.00'

16.08'

R=40.00'

N1°19'23"W

14.79'

N1°19'23"W

1.50'

7.85'

R=2.50'

N1°19'23"W

1.50'

N1°19'23"W

15.90'

29.85'

R=19.00'

N88°40'37"E

0.41'

N.=228995.762

E.=2269362.530

N.=228995.878

E.=2269367.528
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4
"

2"

1/8" DIA.

STEEL WIRE

NOTES:

1. ACTUAL LAYOUT DETERMINED IN FIELD.

2. THE CONCRETE WASHOUT SIGN SHALL BE

INSTALLED WITHIN 30 FT. OF THE

TEMPORARY CONCRETE WASHOUT FACILITY.

STAPLE DETAIL

CONCRETE

WASHOUT

3
'

3
'

PLYWOOD 48"x 24"

PAINTED WHITE

BLACK LETTERS

6" HEIGHT

3" LAG

SCREWS

WOOD POST

3"x 3"x 8'

SIGN DETAIL

10' MIN.

V
A

R
I
E

S

AA

STAKE (TYP.)

STRAW BALE (TYP.)

PLASTIC

10 MIL

LINING

PLAN

TYPE "ABOVE GRADE"

WITH STRAW BALES

BINDING WIRE

PLASTIC LINING

10 MIL

WOOD OR

METAL STAKES

(OPTIONAL)

NATIVE MATERIAL

STAPLES

(2 PER BALE)

SECTION A-A

STRAW BALE

CONCRETE WASHOUT DETAIL

(2 PER BALE)

8" CONCRETE PAVEMENT REINFORCED W/ #4 BARS 24"

O.C.E.W. AT MID DEPTH OF CONCRETE SUPPORTED ON

BAR SUPPORTS

6" MINIMUM COMPACTED SUBGRADE PER SPECIFICATIONS

FULL DEPTH CONCRETE

PAVEMENT DETAILS

T
/
4

3/4" MIN.

T

"
T

"

T
/
2

"
T

"

JOINT SEALER ASTM

D-3406-85

BOND BREAKER

MATERIAL

NON EXTRUDED PRE MOLDED,

COMPRESSIBLE MATERIAL ASTM

D-1752-83

3/4"

3
/
4

"

1
/
8
"

CONTROL JOINT DETAIL

EXPANSION JOINT DETAIL

CONSTRUCTION JOINT DETAIL

5/8" X 18" LONG DOWELLS 18"

O.C. PAINT AND GREASE CURE

PAD

NOTE:

1. CONCRETE SHALL CONFORM TO SPECIFICATIONS. (KCMMB4K)

2. ALL IRREGULAR SLABS AND RECTANGULAR SLABS EXCEEDING LENGTH TO WIDTH

RATIO OF 1.25 SHALL BE ADDITIONALLY REINFORCED WITH 6" X 6" W2.9WWF.

3. CONTROL JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED PER THE PLAN DRAWINGS. IF CONTRACTOR

WISHES TO ADJUST THE JOINT LAYOUT, THEY SHALL SUBMIT IN WRITING FOR

ENGINEER REVIEW/APPROVAL, PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

4. SAWCUT ALL CONTROL JOINTS.

5. ALL JOINTS SHALL BE SEALED WITH VULCAN 45 OR DOW CORNING 888 SILICONE

JOINT SEALANT.

T
/
4

SAWCUT ALL CONTRACTION

JOINTS

4" COMPACTED AGGREGATE BASE

(AB-3)

NOTES:

FILLER

CONTROL JOINT

1/8"

1/4 T MIN. DEPTH

1/2" NON-EXTRUDING

1/2"

R=1/4"

T

T

1. CONCRETE SHALL CONFORM TO SPECIFICATIONS. (KCMMB4K)

2. 1/2" RUBBER EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED WHERE WALK ABUTS

JUNCTION OF EXISTING WALK, CONCRETE CURBS, DRIVEWAYS AND

SIMILAR STRUCTURES, AND AS SHOWN IN THE DRAWINGS.

3. CONTROL JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED AS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS OR AT

DISTANCE NOT EXCEEDING THE WIDTH OF THE SIDEWALK, IF NOT SHOWN.

4. SAWCUT ALL CONTROL JOINTS.

5. ALL JOINTS SHALL BE SEALED WITH VULCAN 45 OR DOW CORNING 888

SILICON JOINT SEALANT.

EXPANSION JOINT

4" COMPACTED

AGGREGATE BASE (AB-3)

6" MIN. COMPACTED

SUBGRADE PER

SPECIFICATIONS

1.5% (TYP)

4" (MIN.) CONCRETE W/ 6 X 6

W.W.F ON BAR SUPPORTS

SECTION AT CURBS

SECTION AT BUILDING

SIDEWALK DETAILS

1/8"

4
"

6"6"6
"

SLOPE

1% MIN., 2% MAX

SEE STANDARD

SIDEWALK FOR

SUBGRADE

REQUIREMENTS

6" 6"

6
"

4
"

SEE STANDARD

SIDEWALK FOR

SUBGRADE

REQUIREMENTS

#4X9" DOWEL HALF

WRAPPED IN TAR

PAPER 24" O.C.

1/2" PREMOLDED

EXPANSION JOINT

WITH SEALANT

 STANDARD DUTY

ASPHALT PAVEMENT

DETAIL

6" ASPHALTIC CONCRETE BASE

(APWA TYPE 1-01)

2" ASPHALTIC CONCRETE

SURFACE (APWA TYPE 3-01)

6" MINIMUM COMPACTED SUBGRADE

PER SPECIFICATIONS

6" COMPACTED AGGREGATE BASE

(AB-3)

SILT DIKE UNIT CUT SECTION

A

A

F

L

O

W

B

B

APRON

APRON ON THIS SIDE

OF THE DIKE SHOULD

BE FOLDED UNDER THE DIKE SECTION AND

STAPLED DOWN

STAPLES

APRON

A

A

DIKE PLAN VIEW

FLOW FLOW

F
L

O
W

F
L
O

W

PLAN VIEW

STAPLES*

A A

DIKE SECTION

DETAIL B-B

STAPLES  POINT #1

  POINT #2

3" TO 6" 

TRENCH

CONCRETE CURB OR

RIGHT-OF-WAY

*STAPLES *STAPLES

DETAIL A-A

STAPLES SHALL BE PLACED

WHERE THE UNITS OVERLAP

AND IN THE CENTER OF

THE 7' UNIT AS SHOWN ON

THE DIAGRAM.

*

DITCH CHECK

CONTINUOUS BARRIER

DROP INLET

DETAIL A-A

INLET

STAPLES*
STAPLES*

FLOW

FLOW

3" TO 6" 

TRENCH

3" TO 6" 

TRENCH

3" TO 6" 

TRENCH

*STAPLES *STAPLES

DETAIL A-A

STAPLES SHALL BE PLACED WHERE THE

UNITS OVERLAP AND IN THE CENTER OF

THE 7' UNIT AS SHOWN ON THE DIAGRAM.

POINT 1 MUST BE HIGHER THAN POINT 2

TO ENSURE THAT WATER FLOWS OVER

THE DIKE AND NOT AROUND THE ENDS.

*

NOTES:

1. TRIANGULAR SILT DIKE SHALL BE TRIANGULAR SHAPED HAVING A HEIGHT OF

  AT LEAST EIGHT TO TEN INCHES IN THE CENTER WITH EQUAL SIDES AND A

  SIXTEEN- TO TWENTY- INCH BASE. THE TRIANGULAR SHAPED INNER

  MATERIAL SHALL BE URETHANE FOAM. THE OUTER COVER SHALL BE A WOVEN

  GEOTEXTILE FABRIC PLACED AROUND THE INNER MATERIAL AND ALLOWED TO

  EXTEND BEYOND BOTH SIDES OF THE TRIANGLE TWO TO THREE FEET.

2. LENGTH SHALL BE THREE TO SEVEN FEET. STANDARD LENGTH WILL BE SEVEN

  UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

3. THE DIKES SHALL BE ATTACHED TO THE GROUND WITH WIRE STAPLES. THE

  STAPLES SHALL BE NO. 11 GAUGE WIRE AND BE AT LEAST SIX TO EIGHT

  INCHES LONG. STAPLES SHALL BE PLACED AS SHOWN ON THE INSTALLATION

  DETAIL.

TRIANGULAR SILE DIKE  NOTES:

A) GENERAL NOTES:

1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSPECT ALL DIKES AFTER EACH RAINFALL EVENT

  OF 1/2 INCH OR GREATER. ANY DEFICIENCIES OR DAMAGE SHALL BE

  REPAIRED BY THE CONTRACTOR.

2. ACCUMULATED SEDIMENT OR DEBRIS SHALL BE REMOVED AND RELOCATED AS

  DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. IF THE DIKES ARE DAMAGED OR

  INADVERTENTLY MOVED DURING THE SEDIMENT REMOVAL PROCESS, THE

  CONTRACTOR SHALL RE-ESTABLISH CONTINUITY.

B) INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE:

TRIANGULAR SILE DIKE

07/07/2016
03/06/2020
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Text Box
Exhibit C - Newly Proposed Photometric Study
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Calculation Summary
Label Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min
property line Fc 1.55 9.7 0.0 N.A. N.A.
site Fc 9.05 27.9 1 9.05 27.90

RELOCATED ISLAND FIXTURE-MT. HEIGHT 18'

03/06/2020
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1 OVERALL LANDSCAPE PLAN 3 LANDSCAPE NOTES

LANDSCAPE PLAN NOTES:

1. EXISTING UNDERGROUND (U/G), OVERHEAD (O.H.)

UTILITIES AND DRAINAGE STRUCTURES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED

FROM AVAILABLE INFORMATION AND THEREFORE, THEIR

LOCATIONS MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE ONLY.  IT

IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE INDIVIDUAL CONTRACTORS

TO VERIFY EXISTENCE AND LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES

BEFORE STARTING ANY WORK.

2. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF WORK, THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL GIVE 72 HOURS ADVANCED NOTICE

TO ALL THOSE COMPANIES/UTILITIES WHICH HAVE

FACILITIES IN THE NEAR VICINITY OF THE CONSTRUCTION

SITE.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL LANDSCAPE MATERIAL

QUANTITIES AND SHALL REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES

IMMEDIATELY TO THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL STAKE/LAYOUT PLANT LOCATIONS

IN THE FIELD & HAVE APPROVAL BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH INSTALLATION.

5. NO SUBSTITUTIONS (INCL. CULTIVARS) SHALL BE

ACCEPTED WITHOUT WRITTEN APPROVAL PER

SPECIFICATIONS.  PROPOSED PLANT SUBSTITUTIONS

REQUIRE APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT, CITY OF

LEAWOOD, KANSAS & THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.

6. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE OF EXCELLENT QUALITY,

FREE OF DISEASE & INFESTATION-TRUE TO TYPE, VARIETY,

SIZE SPECIFIED, & FORM PER ANSA STANDARDS.

7. ALL PROPOSED TREES AND SHRUBS SHALL BE LAID OUT IN

A UNIFORM AND CONSISTENT PATTERN, FOLLOWING THE

LANDSCAPE PLAN ACCURATELY.  INSTALL ALL PLANTS PER

PLANTING DETAILS.

8. ALL TREES & MULCH BEDS (UNLESS ROCK MULCH) SHALL

RECEIVE 3" MIN. OF SHREDDED DARK PREMIUM HARDWOOD

MULCH, TO MATCH EXISTING. ADD PREEN OR SNAPSHOT

TO BEDS BEFORE & AFTER MULCHING FROM MARCH 1 TO

OCTOBER 1.  IF WINTER INSTALLATION, RETURN NEXT

SPRING & INSTALL PREEN/SNAPSHOT WITH NEW MULCH.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL THOROUGHLY WATER-IN EACH

PLANT IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING INSTALLATION AND

CONTINUE WATERING UNTIL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION.

CONTRACTOR REQUIRED TO COORDINATE WATERING WITH

THE OWNER AFTER SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION.  PROVIDE

HOURLY RATE TO WATER THE SITE, IF IRRIGATION NOT

INSTALLED OR NOT WORKING.

10. ALL AREAS OF THE SITE DISTURBED DURING

CONSTRUCTION THAT ARE NOT DESIGNATED AS BEDS /

PAVEMENT AREAS SHALL BE SODDED WITH 90% TURF-TYPE

TALL FESCUE AND 10% BLUEGRASS MIX SOD.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR

CALCULATING ALL AREAS OF SOD, ROCK & MULCH AND THE

AMOUNTS OF EACH NEEDED FOR OPTIMUM COVERAGE.

12. ALL LANDSCAPED AND TURF AREAS SHALL BE IRRIGATED

WITH AN AUTOMATED SYSTEM.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

PROVIDE A DESIGN TO COVER THE NEW LANDSCAPE AREAS

WITH HEAD TO HEAD COVERAGE.   ONLY RAINBIRD OR

HUNTER IRRIGATION PARTS & EQUIPMENT ARE TO BE USED.

DRIP IS PERMITTED.  THE DESIGN SHALL PROVIDE ALL PIPES,

HEADS, VALVES, CONTROLLER, WIRE, AND SLEEVES.

SLEEVES SHALL BE INSTALLED BY THE GENERAL

CONTRACTOR AND COORDINATED WITH THE LANDSCAPE /

IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR. 4" PVC SLEEVES

RECOMMENDED.  PLACE SLEEVES AND MARK CLEARLY

ABOVE GROUND FOR EASE OF FINDING. COORDINATE

BACKFLOW, TAP & METER WITH THE GENERAL

CONTRACTOR (GC) AND THE GC'S LICENSED PLUMBER.  THE

IRRIGATION DESIGN / SUBMITTALS SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO

THE OWNER AND OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE & LA FOR

APPROVAL PRIOR TO ORDERING OR INSTALLING ANY

MATERIALS FOR THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM.  GC SHALL MAKE

SURE THAT THE METER & BACKFLOW ARE COVERED IN THE

BID, AS THE IRRIGATION CONTRACTOR IS LIKELY TO EXCLUDE

THESE ITEMS FROM THE IRRIGATION BED.  COORDINATE

THESE ITEMS AND SLEEVES.

13. ALL PLANT MATERIALS AND IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL

BE GUARANTEED FOR 1 YEAR FROM DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL

COMPLETION.  PLANT MATERIALS WILL BE ONE TIME

REPLACEMENT AND RECORDS KEPT BY THE LANDSCAPE

CONTRACTOR FOR ALL REPLACEMENTS.

14. THIS LANDSCAPE PLAN IS DESIGNED TO BE IN

CONFORMANCE WITH THE LEAWOOD, KANSAS UNIFIED

DEVELOPMENT CODE.  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT WILL

COORDINATE CLOSELY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD,

KANSAS TO MAKE SURE FINAL DEVELOPMENT AND PERMIT

PLANS ARE IN CONFORMANCE WITH THIS CODE.

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE CONTAINER

JF 5 Juniperus chinensis `Sea Green` / Sea Green Juniper 2` Ht. 3 Gal.

RT 1 Rhus typhina `Tiger Eyes` / Tiger Eyes Sumac 2` Ht. 3 Gal.

PLANT SCHEDULE

2 PLANT SCHEDULE

2X

ROOTBALL

DIAMETER

2X

ROOTBALL

DIAMETER

SHRUB AND PERENNIAL PLANTING

UNDISTURBED SOIL

PLANTING SOIL MIX,

AS SPECIFIED

SCARIFY SIDES AND

BOTTOM OF PLANTING

PIT

BALL AND BURLAP, CUT

ALL CORDS AND REMOVE

COVERING FROM PLANT

BEFORE INSTALLING

3" DEPTH HARDWOOD

MULCH, AS SPECIFIED

PLANT ROOT COLLAR

1" ABOVE GRADE

DECIDUOUS SHRUB,

PRUNE DEAD OR

DAMAGED BRANCHES

AS NECESSARY

ROOT BALL (CONTAINER

GROWN) REMOVE

ENTIRE CONTAINER

BEFORE INSTALLATION

ALL MATERIAL

AS SPECIFIED

4

0 1010 5

AJD

GMPAJD

190185-000
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EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN TO REMAIN

EXIT ONTO 119TH ST. ENTRANCE FROM 119TH ST.

PROPOSED LANDSCAPE BED EXTENTS

CITY COMMENTS

EXISTING LANDSCAPE BED TO REMAIN

EXISTING LANDSCAPE BEDS
TO REMAIN
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Leawood Planning Commission - 1 - February 25, 2020 

 

City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 25, 2020 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, 

Block, and Peterson. Absent: Stevens 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the January 28, 2020 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On Page 19, under my comments, the sixth line down should read 

“grave” rather than “brave.” 

 

Comm. McGurren:  On Page 19, under my comments, it should read “short-term.” 

 

Comm. Peterson:  On Page 2, it should be “Peterson.” 

 

A motion to approve the corrected minutes from the January 28, 2020 Planning 

Commission meeting was made by Belzer; seconded by McGurren. Motion carried 

with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, 

Block, Peterson. 

 

CONTINUED TO THE MARCH 25, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION 

MEETING: CASE 01-20 – CORNERSTONE OF LEAWOOD – ONSPRING 

HEADQUARTERS – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th 

Street and east of Nall Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  

None 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
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CASE 11-20 – CAMELOT COURT – WATERWAY GAS AND WASH COMPANY - 

Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located north of 119th Street and west of 

Tomahawk Creek Parkway. 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 11-20 – Camelot Court – Waterway Gas and Wash Company 

– Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan. The applicant would like to expand the 

washing and drying stations to add an additional bay for washing and drying vehicles. 

There are two existing light fixtures within the station. The applicant is proposing to 

expand this car washing and drying area, removing the two existing light fixtures and 

adding four more. New vacuums will also be installed, two of which will replace existing 

vacuums. A new vacuum will be installed for the new bay. One additional light pole will 

be placed at the most southern point of the new parking lot island. The applicant has 

provided staff with a photometric study that does not comply with the Leawood 

Development Ordinance (LDO). Per the ordinance, the parking lot shall have an average 

uniformity ratio of 4:1. The photometric study provided a uniformity ratio of 10.6:1. Staff 

has stipulated that, prior to Governing Body review, the applicant shall provide staff with 

an updated photometric study that meets the requirements of the LDO. This can be met 

by providing information showing they will be less nonconforming than the existing site, 

or by meeting the ratio. Staff will work with the applicant to ensure they meet the LDO in 

some way. The applicant meets the requirements per the LDO with the stipulations listed 

in the Staff Report. Staff recommends approval of Case 11-20 with the stipulations.   

 

Comm. Coleman:  There is a lot of traffic between the gas station and the parking lot. Is 

there any concern on narrowing the driveway area? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  We had the applicant submit a vehicle circulation study showing that a 

large vehicle could make the turns, and it showed that it could. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Is the car wash facility going to remain open during construction? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That would be a better question for the applicant. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I also noticed that they will do additional drainage/runoff work at the 

same time. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I believe it already exists, so this may be a better question for the applicant 

as well; however, they may have to do construction around it or to it while moving the 

parking lot island over.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions for Mr. Sanchez? If not, I would invite the 

applicant to step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 
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Mike Goldman, Vice President and General Counsel, Gas and Waterway Gas and Wash, 

727 Goddard Avenue, Chesterfield, MO, 63005, appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Goldman:  Thank you for getting us on the agenda. I’d like to quickly address those 

questions. We tend to move heaven and earth not to shut down the car wash during 

construction. I would suspect that we may be down for half a day for this. We’ll have to 

skinny up some lanes and throw more people on vacuums at different areas, but we won’t 

intend to be down any significant time. Regarding the light fixtures, we will certainly 

work with staff, and we may have actually made a mistake on the plan. We’ll resubmit 

and ensure we meet the standards of the LDO. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On one of the drawings, it talked about an erosion-control device at 

three different locations. Is that part of this project as well? 

 

Mr. Goldman:  Our civil engineer might be better able to answer that, but I believe it is 

for when we are doing the actual construction. We want to make sure nothing flows into 

the street. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I see him nodding. With regard to the plantings, greenery is being 

moved from the islands to another part of the lot. Where is that going? I noted something 

toward the front along 119th street. 

  

Mr. Goldman:  That is exactly where they will go. We’ve got very full plantings, and that 

is important to our site. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I think it is five Sea Green Junipers and a Tiger Iris Sumac that will be 

in front. 

 

Mr. Goldman:  Yes. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  What is noted in C101, which happens to be a view of the entire 

facility, gas pumps are located near the building. If a car were to have parked in the pump 

that is closest to 119th Street and closest to the building and another one pulls in, coming 

the same direction toward the south, is there room for a car to go around and exit between 

the pumping station and the new section being redone? 

 

Mr. Goldman:  C106 shows some of the car movements. It’s a little tighter than we’d 

like, but it’s doable. We certainly have other locations with similar layouts. Short of 

getting rid of pumps, which doesn’t make sense, this is the best solution. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Just to confirm, if two cars are side by side, one can exit past the 

other and not be on the island and not be precluded from moving through by the other 

car? 

 

Mr. Goldman:  It will be tight, but yes. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? Mr. Goldman, do I understand that, with 

respect to the rest of the stipulations, you have no objection? 

 

Mr. Goldman:  No objections. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  With that, do any commissioners wish to be heard on the application? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I do have concerns with that area by the first pump, but the applicant 

says that it can be done and we have a study saying that cars and trucks can move through 

there. I agree with Commissioner McGurren that it is tight now. Pushing that island out is 

going to make it even tighter. I can see a car getting caught in there and not being able to 

get out until someone leaves that first pump. That’s my only concern with this, but it 

seems that the applicant is comfortable with it. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Since they are going to be providing staff with a different photometric 

study, it is possible to add a stipulation to have them provide an additional vehicle 

circulation study that can show two cars moving past each other. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I think that would be a good idea, just to give Governing Body more 

information before they approve the project.  

 

Mr. Goldman:  That would be fine. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments? Mr. Coleman, would you like to make a motion? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 11-20 – CAMELOT COURT – 

WATERWAY GAS AND WASH COMPANY - Request for approval of a Revised 

Final Plan, located north of 119th Street and west of Tomahawk Creek Parkway – 

with the addition of Stipulation No. 14, requiring the applicant to provide an 

updated vehicle circulation study to address the circulation between the new island 

and the first row of pumps – was made by Coleman; seconded by McGurren. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 6-1. For: McGurren, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. Opposed: Hunter. 

 

CASE 19-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-2-10.3, MATERIALS AND COLORS – Request for approval of an 

amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to the use of asphalt 

shingles on non-residential buildings. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is Case 19-20 – Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to 

Section 16-2-10.3, Materials and Colors. This amendment specifically addresses an 

incongruence between two sections that talked about roofing material. One section refers 
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City of Leawood Governing Body Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:   May 18, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:  January 31, 2020 
 

135th STREET AND KENNETH ROAD – MIXED USE AND MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL – REQUEST 
FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAN – Located south of 135th Street and west of 
Kenneth Road – Case 04-20 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning Commission recommends denial (7-1) of Case 04-20 135th Street and Kenneth Road – Mixed 
Use and Medium Density Residential – request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan for the reasons 
stated in the Planning Commission minutes. 
 
Staff provided the previous stipulations from the accepted Preliminary Plan which were approved with the 
prior preliminary plan with slight modifications/updates, should the Governing Body approve the application: 
1. The project shall be limited to the following: 

a. 410,200 sq. ft. of construction on 18.25 acres for an FAR or 0.43, with a 25% discount for residential 
within the MXD zoned portion of the development that shall meet all requirements of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance, including FAR density bonuses, and the City of Leawood’s Comprehensive 
Plan. 

b. 54 duplexes and 3 triplexes on 38.09 acres for a density of 3.07 dwelling units per acre. 
2. Prior to the Final Plan submittal, the applicant shall work with city staff to make the following revisions to 

the RP-3 portion of the plan: 
a) Provide revised elevation drawings for the duplex and triplex units that meet the material 

requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance, including roofing material. 
3. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 

a) A 135th Street Impact Fee in the amount of $0.58 per square foot of office, $1.95 per square foot of 
retail, and $389.40 per residential unit for areas north of 137th Street. This amount is subject to 
change by Ordinance. 

b) A Public Art Impact Fee in the or a piece of public art is required prior to the issuance of a building 
permit in the amount of $0.15 per square foot of finished floor area for nonresidential development. 
This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

c) A Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300 per residential unit is required prior to issuance of a building 
permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

d) A South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee, due prior to recording of the Final Plat. This amount 
is subject to change by Ordinance.  

4. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the construction of an additional lane and other 
improvements on 135th Street prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for any building within either 
the MXD or RP-3 zoned portions of the development, per Public Works Department. 

5. The right-of-way for 137th Street shall be shifted to the north, to provide a tract of open space to act as a 
buffer between the street and the existing residential development to the south, as it is extended to the 
west beyond the current dedicated right-of-way. 

6. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the construction of 137th Street within the proposed 
development. 
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7. The completion of the design and construction of all public streets for the full width of the property shall 
be under a single set of construction plans. 

8. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines adjacent 
to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground. This must be done prior to 
final occupancy of any building within the project. 

9. Within the RP-3 portion of the development, all above ground facilities shall be placed in the rear yard 
wherever practical. If locating these facilities in the rear yard is not practical or appropriate, as determined 
by the City Engineer, then such facilities shall be at least 25’ behind the right-of-way. 

10. The term of the Special Use Permit for the assisted living facility shall be limited to twenty years from the 
Governing Body approval. 

11. A Special Use Permit for an assisted living facility shall be issued to Vick Regnier Builders, Inc. 
12. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 

inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be installed 
only with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

13. Within the MXD portion of the development, all utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final 
development plan, with a height of 56 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a 
pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall be installed only with the prior recommendation of the 
Planning Commission as being in compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on 
review of a site plan containing such final development plan information as may be required by the City, 
and approved by the Governing Body.  The City may impose conditions on approval, including but not 
limited to duration or renewal requirements, where the circumstances are sufficiently unusual to warrant 
the conditions. 

14. Within the RP-3 portion of the development, all new utility boxes with a height of 55 inches or greater, a 
footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, shall 
be authorized only by approval of a special use permit prior to construction. 

15. The following deviations are hereby granted: 
a) 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on not less than a 1:1 ratio of increase floor 

area to increased open space being a benefit to the community as passive recreational potential for 
the public. 

b) 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on a 1:1 ratio of additional open space to 
additional allowable floor area for incorporation underground parking. 

c) Allow a 30 foot building setback from 137th Street and High Drive within the MXD portion of the 
development based on compensating common open space (not less than 1:1 ratio) is provided 
elsewhere in the project. 

d) Subject to meeting the City’s adopted Building Code, allow a minimum side yard setback for the 
Villas of 15 feet from vertical wall to vertical wall within the RP-3 portion of the development. 

16. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, within the MXD portion of the development buildings shall be 
required to have a buffer a minimum of 10’ deep adjacent to buildings. 

17. Where head-in parking overhangs sidewalks, sidewalks must provide for a minimum of 2’ of additional 
width to accommodate the overhang of cars. 

18. Along all public streets, a minimum of a 10’ tree lawn shall be provided between back of curb and adjacent 
sidewalks. 

19. Sidewalks shall be 6’ in width along 135th Street, both sides of High Drive, and on the north side of 137th 
Street.  A 10’ asphalt hike/bike trail shall be required along the south side of 137th Street and west side 
of Kenneth Road.  All other sidewalks shall be a minimum of 5’ in width. 
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20. Within the MXD portion of the development and per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where 
pedestrian routes intersect vehicular access routes, the material of the pedestrian route shall be 
enhanced and differentiated from the vehicular paving material. 

21. All buildings within this development shall conform to the architectural type, style, and scale of the 
buildings approved by the Governing Body at Final Plan. 

22. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 
23. In accordance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, all trash enclosures shall be screened from 

public view with a 6 foot solid masonry structure to match the materials used in the buildings and shall 
be architecturally attached to the individual buildings and accented with appropriate landscaping.  The 
gates of the trash enclosures shall be painted, sight obscuring, decorative steel. 

24. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 
compatible with the building architecture. The height of the screen must be at least as tall as the utilities 
being screened. 

25. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all parking lot light fixtures associated with this project shall 
be a maximum of 18’ in height. 

26. Lighting fixtures along 137th Street, High Drive, and Kenneth Road between 135th Street and 137th Street 
shall be of a special design that matches the existing light fixtures on 137th Street. 

27. At the time of Final Plan a landscape plan shall be submitted that meets all requirements of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

28. Lighting plans, photometric studies that meet the Leawood Development Ordinance, along with specific 
light fixtures, shall be required at the time of Final Plan. 

29. Materials boards shall be submitted at the time of Final Plan application. 
30. A model shall be submitted at the time of final plan application. 
31. Sign design and calculations shall be required at Final Plan. 
32. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 

works memo dated January 23, 2020, on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development 
Department, prior to recording the final plat. 

33. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire Marshal’s 
memo dated November 7, 2018, on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, 
prior to issuance of a building permit. 

34. A statement shall be included on the final plat for the RP-3 portion of the development that states that 
there shall be no ingress or egress within the rear yard, or street-side side yard to 137th Street for those 
lots that are adjacent to 137th Street. 

35. All streets within the RP-3 portion of the development shall be public.  The developer or Homes 
Association will maintain any planting or statuary within the street right-of-way. The developer shall 
execute a right-of-way maintenance agreement with the Public Works Department for any planting or 
statuary improvements within the public right-of-way.   

36. For the MXD portion of the development, a cross access/parking easement for the entire development 
shall be recorded with the final plat at the Johnson County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of a 
building permit. 

37. The developer will continue to work with City staff on the proposed detention areas to determine if any 
of those areas could be converted to retention ponds to also serve as amenity areas for the development 
and will bring in detailed plans at the time of final plan application. 

38. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all common 
areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm water 
system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in the 
development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such maintenance, 
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repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such common areas or 
common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing and replacing said 
common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood will be jointly and 
severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of such lot. 

39. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun or if 
such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may request a 
hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City Council may grant 
one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the developer. 

40. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through forty. 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION CHANGES TO STIPULATIONS: 

 None 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The property is owned by Vic Regnier Builders, Inc. 

 The developer is Rick Lashbrook with Leawood 135, LLC 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering. 

 The landscape architect is Jason Meier with Meier Consulting. 
 
HISTORY: 

 A Preliminary Plat, Preliminary Plan, Special Use Permit, and Rezoning for the 135th and Kenneth 
Development was approved by the Governing Body with case 71-18 (Ordinance #2919) on December 
3, 2018. The following was approved with that application. 

 Rezoning of 18.25 acres to MXD (Mixed Use Development District) and 38.09 acres to RP-3 
(Planned Cluster Attached Residential). The MXD zoned land was located on the north side of future 
137th Street, and the RP-3 zoned land was located both on the north and south sides of future 137th 
Street. 

 The mixed use portion of the development was approved for a total of 410,200 sq.ft. of construction 
on 18.25 acres for an FAR of 0.43, which included a 25% discount on residential space per the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. The MXD part of the development contained the following use 
percentages. 

 41,000 sq.ft. of retail/restaurant space - (10.0%) 

 82,000 sq.ft. of office space - (20.0%) 

 287,200 sq.ft. of residential apartments (182 units for a density of 9.97 du/ac) – (70.0%) 

 67,200 sq.ft. for an assisted living facility (84 beds) 

 The RP-3 portion (named Regents Park with this application) of the development consisted of 54 
duplexes and 3 triplexes (117 units) on 38.28 acres for a residential density of 3.06 units/acre. 
Eighteen duplexes (36 units) were approved on the north side of future 137th Street and 36 duplexes 
and 3 triplexes (81 units) were approved on the south side. 

 A Final Plat and Final Plan for the Regents Park Multi-Family development was approved by the 
Governing Body with case 33-19 (Resolution #5245) on July 15, 2019 which consisted of public 
infrastructure and the RP-3 portion of the development. 
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REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan alter the proposed phasing of the RP-
3 portion of the development and to remove/alter the stipulations of the approved Preliminary Plan related 
to public improvements on 135th Street and Kenneth Road. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned RP-3 (Planned Cluster Attached Residential) and MXD (Mixed Use). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates the portion of property north of the future 137th Street as Mixed 
Use, and the area south of the future 137th Street as Medium Density Residential. 

 
LOCATION: 

 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:  

 North Directly to the north of the property is 135th Street, an arterial roadway, and undeveloped 
property zoned AG, on the north side of 135th Street.  

 South Directly to the south of the property is the Leawood Falls Subdivision, zoned RP-4 (Planned 
Cluster Residential District under a previous version of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance), and the Villas of Highlands Ranch, zoned RP-2 (Planned Cluster Detached 
Residential District). 

 East Directly to the east of the property is Kenneth Road and undeveloped land, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 West West of the property is undeveloped land, zoned AG, followed by Chadwick Place, a 
commercial development zoned SD-NCR (Planned Neighborhood Retail) and SD-O 
(Planned Office). 
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CHANGES FROM THE APPROVED PRELIMINARY PLAN: 

 With this application, the applicant is proposing two (2) separate changes to be made to the previously 
approved Preliminary Plan for this project. The first change would be to make changes to stipulations in 
the Planning Staff Report as well as the Public Works Staff Report. The second change is to alter the 
Phasing plan. 

 The applicant is requesting the following stipulations be removed/altered:  
STIPULATION 

NUMBER 
CURRENT STIPULATION APPLICANT REQUEST 

Stipulations Listed in the Planning Staff Report  

4 The applicant/owner shall be responsible for 
the construction of an additional lane and other 
improvements on 135th Street prior to issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy for any building 
within either the MXD or RP-3 zoned portions 
of the development, per the Public Works 
Department. 

Delete 

7 The completion of the design and construction 
of all public streets for the full width of the 
property shall be under a single set of 
construction plans. 

Modify to read:  
The design and construction of the public 
streets will be under separate sets of 
construction plans in accordance with the 
project phasing. 

8 All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing 
and proposed, including utilities and power 
lines adjacent to and within abutting right-of-
way) are required to be placed underground. 
This must be done prior to final occupancy of 
any building within the project. 

Modify to read:  
The applicant shall not be required to place 
existing power/utility lines along 135th 
Street frontage underground. 

32 The applicant shall obtain all approvals and 
permits from the Public Works Department, per 
the public works memo dated November 13, 
2018 on file with the City of Leawood Planning 
and Development Department, prior to 
recording the final plat. 

Refers to stipulations listed in the 
Public Works Memo. The Public Works 
stipulation that the applicant is 
requesting to be either deleted or 
modified are listed below under “Public 
Works Memo” 

Stipulations Listed in the Public Works Memo  

2-c-i,ii,iii The developer shall construct the following 
public improvements prior to issuance of 
Certificate of Occupancy 

 

 i. Construct an additional lane for eastbound 
135th Street along the frontage of this 
development. This section of roadway shall 
be constructed in accordance with the 135th 
Street construction plans dated 1995 and 
the lane widening must be as smooth as the 
existing pavement section. This shall be 
determined by Profilograph machine. If the 
new pavement section is not as smooth as 
the existing lanes, the developer shall 
diamond grind the new pavement to meet 
the smoothness of the existing lanes. 

Delete 
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STIPULATION 
NUMBER 

CURRENT STIPULATION APPLICANT REQUEST 

 ii. The developer shall construct eastbound 
right turn lanes and each access to 135th 
Street and at Kenneth Road. The length of 
the right turn lane shall be two hundred fifty 
(250) feet long plus taper at 
existing/proposed signalized intersection. 
The length of the right turn lane shall be one 
hundred fifty (150) feet long plus taper at 
the Right-in/Right-out. 

Modify to read: 
The Developer shall construct an 
eastbound right turn lanes at High Drive 
with the construction of the Phase I.  The 
length of the right turn lane at High Drive 
shall be two hundred fifty (250) feet long 
plus taper at existing/proposed signalized 
intersections.  The Developer shall 
construct an eastbound right turn lane at 
the right-in/right out drive with the 
construction of Phase 5.  The length of the 
right turn lane shall be one hundred fifty 
(150) feet long plus taper at the right-
in/right-out drive. 

 iii. The Developer shall install the traffic signal 
at 135th Street and High Drive and the left 
turn lanes for eastbound and westbound. 

Modify to read: 
Prior to the issuance of a building permit for 
any building within the MXD portion of the 
project, the owner and/or developer shall 
deposit (either) $300,000 cash or an 
irrevocable Letter of Credit with the Chief 
Financial Officer for the City of Leawood.  
The funds collected shall be placed in an 
escrow account set aside for a future traffic 
signal, including any required 
interconnections, at the intersection of 
135th Street and High Drive.  The 
signalization will be considered by the City 
when and if a warrant is met in accordance 
with the “Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices”.   In the event the actual total 
signalization costs are less than the funds 
available from the escrow account at the 
time of contract closing out, the difference 
shall be refunded to the owner and/or 
developer, or the successor in interest. 

6 Developments shall have all utilities relocated 
underground. This includes private property 
and utilities in the Right-of-way between the 
curb and property line. 

Delete 

13 Certificates of Occupancy shall not be issued 
for any building until all public improvements, 
including payments to escrow accounts, have 
been completed.  

Modify to read: 
Certificates of Occupancy may be issued 
upon completion of all public improvements 
as planned with each phase of the 
development. 
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO PHASING: 

 Currently Approved Phasing Plan: 
o The currently approved phasing plan includes all duplex and triplex residential buildings to 

be constructed within the first phase along with 137th Street from Kenneth Road to Chadwick 
Street. 

o The amenity area at the intersection of 137th Street and High Drive would be included as 
part of the second phase. 

o The third and fourth phases would include the Mixed Use portion of the development on the 
east and west sides of High Drive. 

 Proposed Phasing Plan: 
o The first phase of the development would include the duplex and triplex residential buildings 

located south of 137th Street, including the construction of 137th Street from Kenneth Road 
to Chadwick Street. 

o The second phase of the development would include the amenity area at the intersection of 
137th Street and High Drive. 

o The third phase would include the duplex residential buildings north of 137th Street. 
o The fourth and fifth phases would include the Mixed Use portion of the development on the 

east and west sides of High Drive. 

 With regards to the phasing of the project, the applicant is proposing to construct the duplex units, north 
of 137th Street, in a third phase. This will affect 18 Duplex building (36 Dwelling Units). The construction 
for the street off of 137th Street for the duplex buildings north of 137th Street would also be moved to the 
3rd Phase. 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:  

 The applicant has confirmed that no other changes to the site have been proposed with this application 
from the previously approved Preliminary Plan. 

 The previous preliminary plan included the following: 

 The Regents Park subdivision with a total of 54 duplexes and 3 triplexes (117 units), 18 duplexes 
(36 units) north of 137th Street adjacent to the mixed use portion of the development, and 36 duplexes 
and 3 triplexes (81 units) proposed to the south of 137th Street. 

 The mixed use portion of the development proposes a total of 410,200 sq.ft. of construction on 18.25 
acres for an FAR of 0.43, which includes a 25% discount on residential space per the Leawood 
Development Ordinance.  The MXD part of the development consists of the following uses: 

o 41,000 sq.ft. of retail/restaurant space - (10.0%) 
o 82,000 sq.ft. of office space - (20.0%) 
o 287,200 sq.ft. of residential apartments (182 units for a density of 9.97 du/ac) – (70.0%) 
o 67,200 sq.ft. for an assisted living facility (84 beds) 

 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the 135th Leawood Development: 
 
Mixed Use Bulk Regulations 

Criteria Required Provided Criteria 

Exterior Structure Setback 40’ 30’ - 137th Street and 
High Drive 

40’ – 135th Street 

Deviation Granted - 
adjacent to 137th Street 

and High Drive only 
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Criteria Required Provided Criteria 

Interior Structure Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Single Family Residential Structure 
Setback 

75’ 850’ approx. 
Complies 

Exterior Parking Setback 25’ 25’ Complies 

Interior Parking Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Minimum Open Space % 30% 44.9% Complies 

Minimum Interior Open Space % 10% 15% Complies 

Minimum Acres 10  18.25 Complies 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 
(F.A.R.) 

0.25                          
198,718 SQ.FT. 

0.43                
410,200 SQ.FT. 

F.A.R. Bonuses Granted 

Required Use Ratios ≥ 20% - Residential 
≥ 20% - Office 
≥ 10% - Retail 

70.0% 
20.0% 
10.0% 

Complies 

Residential Density ≤ 15 DU / acre 9.97 DU /acre Complies 

Minimum Residential Unit  Size 80% - ≥900 sq.ft. 
20% - ≥750 sq.ft. 

Not provided 
Applicant acknowledged, 

but not provided 

Height Limit 90’ 71’ Complies 

 
Planned Cluster Attached Residential District (RP-3) 

Criteria Required Provided Criteria 

Front Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Side Setback 30*’ 15’ Deviation Granted 

Side Lot Corner Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Rear Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Density 7.26 du/ac. 
6,000 sq.ft./dwelling 

3.07 du/ac, Complies 

Maximum No. of Attached Units ≤ 4 per building 3 per building Complies 

Open Space 30% of lot area 66.0% Complies 
         * Measured from building lines and building clusters 

 
LANDSCAPING:   

 No changes have been made to the previous landscaping plan that was approved with the Final Plan 
application. 

 The applicant is not proposing any changes to the Mixed Use portion of the development reflected on 
the currently approved Preliminary Plan. The Final Landscape Plan which was approved with the 
Regents Park final Plan included the RP-3 portion of the development, which is not being changed with 
this application. 

 Landscaping will be reviewed at the time of Final Plan for the area zoned MXD. 
 
TRAFFIC:   

 The applicant provided a traffic study completed in March, 2019 and has been reviewed and approved 
by the Public Works Department. 

 
SIGNAGE:  

 No signage is proposed with this application. Signage will be reviewed under a separate Final Plan at a 
later date. 
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DEVIATIONS PREVIOUSLY GRANTED: 

 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on not less than a 1:1 ratio of increase floor 
area to increased open space being a benefit to the community as passive recreational potential 
for the public. 

 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on a 1:1 ratio of additional open space to 
additional allowable floor area for incorporation underground parking. 

 Allow a 30 foot building setback from 137th Street and High Drive within the MXD portion of the 
development based on compensating common open space (not less than 1:1 ratio) is provided 
elsewhere in the project. 

 Subject to meeting the City’s adopted Building Code, allow a minimum side yard setback for the 
Villas of 15 feet from vertical wall to vertical wall within the RP-3 portion of the development. 

 
IMPACT FEES:  

 135TH STREET CORRIDOR IMPACT FEE: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the 135th Street 
Impact fee in the amount of $0.58 per square foot for office, $1.95 per square foot for retail, and $389.40 
per residential unit for areas north of 137th Street, which is due prior to issuance of building permit. This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 PUBLIC ART IMPACT FEE: A public art impact fee or a piece of public art shall be required. Approval 
of the design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning Commission, and 
be approved by the Governing Body at a later date. In Lieu of that, the applicant may pay a public art 
impact fee in the amount of $0.15 per square foot of finished floor area for nonresidential development 
prior to issuance of a building permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 PARK IMPACT FEE: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of 
$0.15 per square foot of finished floor area and $300 per residential unit is required prior to issuance of 
building permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 SOUTH LEAWOOD TRANSPORTATION IMPACT FEE: The applicant shall be responsible for a South 
Leawood Transportation Impact Fee prior to recording of the Final Plat.  

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The applicant is requesting not to pay for some public improvements associated with the project now or 
in the future, including the construction of a third lane on 135th Street and the undergrounding of 
power/utility lines. 

 In previous developments along 135th Street, improvements are generally constructed with the 
development or paid into escrow to have the project done in the future, when the city deems it necessary 
for proper facilities to be constructed. 

 It is the position of city staff that the application request be denied and that the currently approved 
Preliminary Plan stay in effect.  











From: Gene Hunter  
Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 10:01 AM 
To: Mark Klein <markk@leawood.org> 
Subject: RE: Case 71-18, 135th Street and Kenneth - Memo from Fire Marshal 
 
This plan as reviewed provides adequate access for fire apparatus.    
 
Gene Hunter, Leawood Fire Marshal  
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DESIGNATION

RESIDENTIAL -     287,200 SF =   70.0%

41,000 SF =   10.0%

USES BY PERCENTAGE:  RETAIL/RESTAURANT/OFFICE/RESIDENTAL

F

TOTAL

ASSISTED LIVING

BUILDING
DESIGNATION

B
C

A

D
E

OVERALL SITE INFORMATION

M
XD

RESIDENTIAL
RESIDENTIAL

OFFICE
RETAIL / OFFICE

RTL / OFFICE / RES

BUILDING USE

NOTE : HOURS OF OPERATION ARE CURRENTLY UNKNOWN.

PARKING FRONTAGE CALCULATION:  KENNITH ROAD FRONTAGE - 0% - MAXIMUM 40%
PARKING FRONTAGE CALCULATION:  135TH STREET FRONTAGE -  1785 LF / 368 PARKING = 20.6% - MAXIMUM 40%

= 13,0480 S.F. REQUIRED  VS.  18,9941 S.F. 15% PROVIDED

DENSITY CALCULATION

466

2 67,200 SF 84

369

304

SURFACE
PARKING

NUM. OF
STORIESLOT SIZE

2
2

4
4
5

BUILDING SF

26,000 SF

-
-

 2,000 SF
16239

164
  67

MIN PARKING
REQUIRED

NA
 36

NA

OPEN SPACE CALCULATION

INTERNAL LANDSCAPING: 466 STALLS X 280 S.F. = 130,480 SF X 10% = 13,048 SF 

SETBACK
BLDG/PKNG

40'/25'

SUBTOTAL

ZONING
DESIGNATION

MXD

SITE
AREA

 501,937 SF 

SPACE (LANDSCAPE)
OPEN

295,106 SF = 44.9% > 30%

ZONE MXD:

PER CITY OF LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ARTICLE 3 16-3-9 PARAGRAPH 

466369

G

UNITS
RESID.

42

PARKING
UNDERGROUND

100

PROVIDED

282

282

266

748

RESIDENTIAL
SF

287,200 SF

410,200 SF

RESID.
PKNG. REQ'D 
@ 1.46/ UNIT 

350

350

PROVIDED@ 3/1000

RESIDENTIAL UNITS PROVIDED

PARKING PROVIDED FOR RESIDENTIAL

182 (does not include assisted living)

266 (1.46/ BEDROOM total)

369 (3.0/1000)

123,000 SFTOTAL OFFICE/RETAIL BUIDING GLA:

TOTAL PARKING FOR RETAIL / OFFICE GLA:
410,200 SFOVERALL TOTAL BUILDING SF:

MAX FAR = 794,872 SF X 45%  = 357,692 SF

PARKING STRUCTURES : UP TO 15% INCREASE IN MAXIMUM F.A.R. @ 1:1 RATIO PER 16-3-9 A 4 (f)    = 29,807 SF 

794,872 SF (GROSS)

252,240 (32.1 %) < 357,692 SF (MAX FAR)

TOTAL GLA:RESID PKNG REQ'D (SEE PARKING STUDY) COMMERCIAL PKNG REQ'D UNDERGROUND SURFACE TOTAL PKNG

+ = 719 + =

41,000 SF

52,000 SF
52,000 SF
66,000 SF
50,000 SF

42
42
56
42

42
56
42

84
@ 1 / UNIT 

40'/25'
40'/30'/25'

30'/25'

PARKING PROVIDED FOR ASSISTED LIVING 100 (.84/1000 total)

3.156 AC

18.2478 AC

OPEN SPACE: UP TO 15% INCREASE @ 1:1 RATIO IN MAXIMUM F.A.R. PER 16-3-9 A 4 (a).                 = 29,807 SF

25% MAX F.A.R. PER 16-2-6.4(D) = 794,872 x .25 = 198,718 SF

1. MULTI-FAMILY BLDG'S &
ASSISTED LIVING TO HAVE
STORM SHELTERS PER FEMA
STANDARDS, TYP.

2. MINIMUM SIZE OF
APARTMENT UNITS TO COMPLY
WITH LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT
ORDINANCE. 80% OF UNITS
MINIMUM OF 900 SF. NO UNIT
SMALLER THAN 750 SF.

3. ALL TRASH ENCLOSURES TO
BE SCREENED FROM PUBLIC
VIEW WITH 6' MASONRY
STRUCTURE TO MATCH
MATERIALS USED IN BUILDING
DESIGN. ENCLOSURES TO BE
ARCHITECTURALL ATTACHED TO
BUILDINGS AND ACCENTED WITH
APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPING.
GATES OF TRASH ENCLOSURE
TO BE PAINTED, SIGHT
OBSCURING METAL PER
LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT
ORDINANCE.

4. ALL SIDEWALKS TO BE
MINIMUM OF 5 FEET IN WIDTH.
SIDEWALKS AT HEAD IN PARKING
TO BE MINIMUM OF 7 FEET IN
WIDTH.  SIDEWALKS AT
STOREFRONT TO BE MINIMUM
OF 8 FEET IN WIDTH.  A 10 FEET
DEEP LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BE
PROVIDED  BEHIND CURB OR
SIDEWALK TO BUILDING  EXCEPT
AT STOREFRONTS.

BLDG
HEIGHT

26'-10"
40'
40'

50'-8"
50'-8"
71'-0"

SITE PARKING PER AREA
WEST OF HIGH DRIVE
182 UNITS (1.46/BEDRM 266 STALLS + OFFICE/ RETAIL 25,000 X 3/1,000 SF=75 
REQUIRED 266+75=341 STALLS     PROVIDED 344 STALLS

410,200 SF = 100.0%

82,000 SF  =  20.0%

SUBTOTAL

OFFICE
RETAIL

TRACT I
TRACT I
TRACT I
TRACT I
TRACT H
TRACT H
TRACT H

11.523 AC +/- 

6.725 AC +/- 
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1A201

4A201

3A201

ROW ROW
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NUM. OF
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-
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52

70

BDRMS

52

310

RETAIL/REST  SF

28,500 SF
22,500 SF

10,000 SF

OFFICE SF

82,000 SF

123,000 SF = 30.0%SUBTOTAL
USES BY PERCENTAGE:  RETAIL/RESTAURANT/OFFICE

UNITS PER ACRE: 18,2478 A. / 266 UNITS = 14.58 : ALLOWED 15

61

61

83
61

TOTAL SITE PARKING STALLS: 746 STALLS
1,000 SF PLAZA / PEDESTRIAN SPACE PER 125 STALLS.
746/125 = 5,960 SF PLAZA / PEDESTRIAN SPACE REQ.
12,830 SF PLAZA / PEDESTRIAN SPACE PROVIDED 10 LOCATIONSEAST OF HIGH DRIVE

84 UNITS (1 UNIT 84 STALLS + OFFICE/ RETAIL 98,000 X 3/1,000 SF=294 

REQUIRED 84+294=378 STALLS     PROVIDED 404 STALLS

SF

137,454 SF

794,872 SF +/- 

501,937 SF +/- 

292,937 SF +/- 
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OFFICE 2 63H 40'TRACT H 21,000 SF

571'-0"RETAIL / RES 13,000 SF

-
-

-
-

-

-
-

40'/30'/25'
40'/30'/25'

30'/25'

40'/25'

WEST  293,937 SF 

 -137,454 SF 

EAST

(ROW)
657,420 SF 

657,420 X 30% OPEN SPACE = 197,226 SF
PROVIDED OPEN SPACE  (EAST) -197,176 SF (WEST) 97,930 SF = 295,106 SF

 EXCEEDS REQ. BY 96,941 SF

PARKING FRONTAGE CALCULATION:  137TH STREET FRONTAGE -  1395 LF / 382 PARKING = 27.4% - MAXIMUM 40%

PERMITTED F.A.R.= 25% MAX F.A.R. PER 16-2-6.4(G) = 794.872 x .25 = 198,718 SF
PERMITTED F.A.R. MXD W/ DISCOUNT 55% OF RESIDENTIAL SF. PER 16-2-6.4(G).1 = 287,200 x .45 = 129,240 SF

BONUS

RETAIL & OFFICE SF = 123,000 SF
TOTAL DENSITY WITH 55% RESIDENTIAL DISCOUT = 252,240 SF

= 258,332 > 252,240 SF

TOTAL PERMITTED DENSITY =  258,332 SF

OPEN SPACE REQUIRED      4A  (a):1 RATIO = 29,807 SF
OPEN SPACE REQUIRED     4A (f)1:1 RATIO  = 29,807 SF
OPEN SPACE REQ. 30' SETBACK 1:1 RATIO= 12,340 SF
TOTAL REQUIRED OPEN SPACE                  = 71,954 SF

REQ. 197,226 SF -PROV. 295,106 SF  EXCESS = 97,880 SF

REVISED 11.08.18

11.523 AC +/- 501,937 SF +/- 
11.523 AC +/- 501,937 SF +/- 
11.523 AC +/- 501,937 SF +/- 

6.725 AC +/- 292,937 SF +/- 
6.725 AC +/- 292,937 SF +/- 
6.725 AC +/- 292,937 SF +/- 
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STREET AND ORNAMENTAL TREE PLAN

Revision 1:     6.13.2018

Revision 2:     7.20.2018

Revision 3:     8.15.2018

Revision 4:     11.1.2018

SITE PLAN

135th and Kenneth Rd.

Leawood, KS

2)  TIGHTEN WIRE /

CABLE ONLY ENOUGH

TO KEEP FROM

SLIPPING, ALLOW FOR
SOME TRUNK

MOVEMENT PLASTIC

HOSE SHALL BE LONG
ENOUGH TO ACCOM-

MODATE 11
2" OF

GROWTH

STAKING REQUIREMENTS:

1)  APPLY 2"THK BED OF MULCH

PERENNIAL PLANTING NOTES:

INITIAL WATERING:

COMPLETE, WATER

MORE IS ABSORBED

WHEN BACKFILL IS 2/3

THOROUGHLY UNTIL NO

GALV, 12-GAUGE 

1)  WIRE / CABLE SHALL BE

3)  STAKES SHALL BE 2"x
2" HARDWOOD OR EQUAL

BACKFILL w/ SUITABLE

2)  THOROUGHLY MIX PEAT IN

TO A DEPTH OF 12"
4)  PROVIDE NEW TOPSOIL

TO A DEPTH OF 24"
3)  BREAK UP EXISTING SOIL

TOP 3-4" OF SOIL

SHRUB PLANTING NOTES:

1)  SET SHRUB AT SAME DEPTH
AT WHICH IT GREW IN THE FIELD
OR CONTAINER

2)  PRUNE, THIN & SHAPE SHRUBS
IN ACCORDANCE w/ STANDARD
HORTICULTURAL PRACTICE

DO NOT COVER PLANTS
ON PERENNIAL PLANT BED,

TREE PLANTING NOTES:

WHENEVER POSSIBLE

OF THE ROOT BALL w/ SOIL
DO NOT COVER THE TOP
VISIBLE SHALL BE REJECTED. 

w/ TREE TRUNK

7)  PLACE ALL ROOT BALLS ON UN-

ROOT BALL (REMOVE WIRE BASKETS)

6)  REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE
AND BURLAP FROM THE UPPER 1/3 OF

5)  EACH TREE MUST BE PLANTED
SUCH THE TRUNK FLARE IS VISIBLE
AT THE TOP OF THE ROOT BALL.
TREES WHERE THE FLARE IS NOT

4)  APPLY 4"THK WOOD MULCH, DO NOT
PLACE MULCH IN DIRECT CONTACT

3)  SET TOP OF ROOT BALL 1-2 INCHES
HIGHER THAN SURROUNDING GRADE

TREE TO FACE NORTH AT THE SITE
TREE IN THE NURSERY, AND ROTATE
2)  MARK THE NORTH SIDE OF THE

EXTEND TO THE EDGE OF THE CROWN
TERMINAL BUDS OF BRANCHES THAT

MAY BE PRUNED.  DO NOT REMOVE THE
SOME INTERIOR TWIGS & LATERAL BRANCHES

LEADERS, & BROKEN OR DEAD BRANCHES.
PRUNE ONLY CROSSOVER  LIMBS, CO-DOMINANT
1)  DO NOT HEAVILY PRUNE THE TREE,

4

EXCAVATED OR TAMPED SOIL, TYP TOPSOIL, TYP

PLANTING INSTALLATION DETAILS

ROOT BALL

SPECIFIED BACKFILL MIXTURE

EXISTING UNDISTURBED SUBSOIL

IS IN LANDSCAPE BED

CONTINUOUS SAUCER, RIM FOR WATER & MULCH

CUT & REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP 1/3 OF BALL.

1/2 DIAM.OF BALL

TREE TIE SYSTEM, SEE STAKING REQUIREMENTS

PRUNE DAMAGED OR DEAD WOOD 

IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NEVER LEAVE 

LEAVE "V" CROTCHES OR DOUBLE LEADER.

PLANT ROOT BALL 2" HIGHER THAN GRADE 

AS SHOWN.  SPACE EQUIDISTANT AROUND TREE.
3 METAL STAKES.  PLACE NEXT TO ROOT BALL 

INSTALL WEED CONTROL FABRIC IF TREE

AT WHICH TREE GREW.

4" MIN. SPECIFIED MULCH

DO NOT PRUNE LEADER

1. Location of all existing utilities needs to done before commencing work.

2. The planting plan graphically illustrates overall plant massings. Each plant species massing shall be placed in the

field to utilize the greatest coverage of ground plane. The following applies for individual plantings:

a. Creeping groundcover shall be a minimum of 6" from paving edge.

b. All trees shall be a minimum of 3' from paving edge.

c. All plants of the same species shall be equally spaced apart and placed for best aesthetic viewing.

d. All shrubs shall be a minimum of 2' from paved edge.

3. Mulch all planting bed areas to a minimum depth of 3". Mulch individual trees to a minimum depth of 4".

4. Note: If plants are not labeled - they are existing and shall remain.

5. In the event of work in or on a JCW sanitary main, any trees or plantings placed within the sewer easement may

be removed without replacement or compensation there-of and shall be replaced by the property owner as required

by the City.

6. All landscaped areas in ROW shall be sodded and irrigated unless otherwise specified.

Materials:

1. Plant material shall be healthy, vigorous, and free of disease and insects as per AAN standards.

2. Shredded bark mulch installed at trees shall be finely chipped and shredded hardwood chips, consisting of pure

wood products and free of all other foreign substances. Pine bark compost mulch installed at planting bed areas

shall be free of all other foreign substances.

Installation:

1. All planting beds shall be amended with 1 cubic yard of peat moss per 1,000 square feet. Till peat moss into soil

to a  6" depth. A 10-10-10 fertilizer shall be spread over all planting areas prior to planting, at a rate of 50 pounds

per 2,000 square feet.

2. After plants have been installed, all planting beds shall be treated with Dacthal pre-emergent herbicide prior to

mulch application.

3. Plant pit backfill for trees and shrubs shall be 50% peat or well composted manure and 50% topsoil.

4. Plant material shall be maintained and guaranteed for a period of one year after Owner's acceptance of finished

job.   All dead or damaged plant material shall be replaced at Landscape Contractor's expense.

6. Landscape contractor shall maintain all plant material until final acceptance, at which point the one year

guarantee begins.

Planting Notes

Turf Area

Cultivated Edge: 6" 

Finish Grade

Undisturbed
Existing 

Planting

Bed

12"

Subsoil

Prepared

Mulch

3 CULTIVATED EDGE DETAIL

NOTES:  1. SPACING FOR GROUNDCOVERS, SHRUBS, AND PERENNIALS NOTED ON PLANS.

2. TILL SOIL IN BED TO A 12" MINIMUM DEPTH AND THOROUGHLY MIX IN SOIL

AMENITIES AS NOTED ON PLANS.

CONTAINER

GROUNDCOVER OR

SHRUB PIT

MULCH

SHREDDED

BARK

60.00°

Plant Quantities Per 

Square Feet x 1.00

Square Feet x 1.50

Square Feet x  .44

Square Feet x  .16

Square Feet x  .11

18"

30"

36"

12"

10"

Between 
Plants

Inches

Square Foot

2 GROUNDCOVER/SHRUB DETAIL

Landscape Calculations - West Mixed-Use Area
Perimeter Landscaping adjacent to public ROW:
Street Tree Requirements:

One Street tree is required for every 35' of street frontage:
Requirement Met.

One ornamental tree per 12 lineal feet (1 shade tree = 2 Ornamental trees) and one shrub
per 5 lineal feet are required:

702 L.F. frontage on 135th Street
56 Ornamental trees required  140 shrubs required.
56 Ornamental trees provided  140 shrubs provided

248 L.F. frontage on 137th Street
21 Ornamental trees required  50 shrubs required.
21 Ornamental trees provided  50 shrubs provided
378 L.F. frontage on Entry Boulevard (excludes driveways)

32 Ornamental trees required  76 shrubs required.
32 Ornamental trees provided  76 shrubs provided
Requirements Met.

Perimeter Parking lot Landscaping:
All parking areas shall be screened from view of adjacent properties and streets by 3' tall

plant material and/or berms and walls.
Requirements Met.

Interior Landscaping:
Total Area of the site (excluding setbacks) = 193,127 sf.
10% of site shall be landscaped (19,313sf) 24% of site is landscaped.  (47,141 sf total)

A minimum of one 4-inch caliper tree shall be planted for every ten (10) parking spaces.
163 Parking spaces provided.
16 Trees required. 16 Trees provided
Additional trees shall be required at a ratio of one tree for every 3,000 sq.ft. of landscaped
open space. 
47,141 Sf of landscaped openspace provided.
16 Additional trees required. 16 Additional trees provided.
Requirements Met

15245 Metcalf Ave.

Overland Park, KS 66223

913.787.2817

LANDSCAPE

ME ERI
ARCHITECTURE

CLIENT

Landscape Plan

L1

PROJECT

Landscape Calculations - East Mixed-Use Area
Perimeter Landscaping adjacent to public ROW:

Street Tree Requirements:
One Street tree is required for every 35' of street frontage:
Requirement Met.

One ornamental tree per 12 lineal feet (1 shade tree = 2 Ornamental trees) and one shrub

per 5 lineal feet are required:
638 L.F. frontage on 135th Street (excludes areas of dense existing vegetation)
53 Ornamental trees required  128 shrubs required.
53 Ornamental trees provided  128 shrubs provided

908 L.F. frontage on 137th Street (excludes driveways)
76 Ornamental trees required  181 shrubs required.
76 Ornamental trees provided  181 shrubs provided

359 L.F. frontage on Entry Boulevard (excludes driveways)
30 Ornamental trees required  72 shrubs required.
30 Ornamental trees provided  72 shrubs provided

263 L.F. frontage on Kenneth Road (Dense Existing Vegetation Preserved)
22 Ornamental trees required  53 shrubs required.
11 Shade trees provided  53 shrubs provided
Requirements Met.

Perimeter Parking lot Landscaping:

All parking areas shall be screened from view of adjacent properties and streets by 3' tall
plant material and/or berms and walls.
Requirements Met.

Interior Landscaping:
Total Area of the site (excluding setbacks) = 362,230 sf.
10% of site shall be landscaped (36,223sf) 38% of site is landscaped.  (136,040 sf total)

A minimum of one 4-inch caliper tree shall be planted for every ten (10) parking spaces.
302 Parking spaces provided.
30 Trees required. 30 Trees provided
Additional trees shall be required at a ratio of one tree for every 3,000 sq.ft. of landscaped
open space. 

136,040 Sf of landscaped openspace provided.
45 Additional trees required. 45 Additional trees provided.  (25 existing trees
preserved count towards interior tree requirements)
Requirements Met

Landscape Schedule

Original Submittal Date:

5.22.2018
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*NOTE: MULTIPLE ELEVATION DESIGNS TO BE CONSIDERED

LP SMARTSIDE LAP SIDING 
(VARIOUS STYLES)

CERTAINTEED PRESIDENTIAL 
SHAKE SHINGLES

CANYON STONE CANYON LEDGE 
ENGINEERED STONE VENEER
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Charcoal Black Autumn Blend Autumn Blend

Midnight Slate Morning Mist Morning Mist

Black Stain Black Stain Coffee Stain

SW 7006 Extra White SW 7006 Extra White SW 7006 Extra White

SW 7648 Big Chill

Color Option 1 Color Option 2 Color Option 3

SW 7019 Gauntlet Grey SW 7642 Pavestone

MATERIALS PALETTE AND COLOR OPTIONS

Main Body:

LP® SmartSide® Lap Siding
Double 8” Bold Profile Lap

Trim Pieces:

LP - SmartSide Lap Siding
76 Series Smooth Finish Lap

Doors + Shutters:

LP - SmartSide Lap Siding
76 Series Cedar Texture

Accent:

Canyon Stone - Canyon 
Ledge Manufactured Stone 

Veneer

Roof:

CertainTeed - Presidential 
Shake Shingles
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LP® SmartSide® Lap Siding
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Double 8” Bold Profile Lap

Doors + Shutters:
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Trim + Doors + Shutters:
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Accent:

Canyon Stone - Canyon 
Ledge Manufactured Stone 

Veneer

Accent:

Canyon Stone - Canyon 
Ledge Manufactured Stone 

Veneer

Roof:

CertainTeed - Presidential 
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Roof:
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Color Option 4 Color Option 5





















  
 Memorandum 2400 Pershing Road 
  Suite 400 
  Kansas City, MO  64108 
  Tel 816 329 8600 
  Fax 816 329 8601  
 
  www.transystems.com 
 
 

To: Mr. Rick Lashbrook 

Leawood 135, LLC 

P.O. Box 26170 

Overland Park, KS  66225 

 

From: Jeff Wilke, PE, PTOE 

Date: July 24 2018 

Project No.: P101180207 

 
Subject: 135th & Kenneth Shared Parking Analysis 

 In accordance with your request, TranSystems has completed a shared parking analysis for the proposed mixed-
use development at the southwest corner of 135th Street and Kenneth Road in Leawood, Kansas. The study 
included an analysis of parking demand for the proposed land uses. The concept of shared parking is described in 
a publication titled Shared Parking, published by the Urban Land Institute (ULI). Shared parking is defined as the 
use of a parking space to serve two or more individual land uses without conflict or encroachment. The key goal 
of a shared parking analysis is to find the balance between providing adequate parking, land area, and resources 
dedicated to parking. 

Proposed Development 
The proposed development includes a mixture of residential, office and retail land uses.  The southern portion 
of the site, generally south of 137th Street, includes 120 twin villas.  The northern portion of the site includes 
the mixture of land uses.  Several buildings are proposed with apartments, commercial, and assisted living 
facilities.  The main access driveway for the development will run north/south, bisecting the northern portion of 
the site.  The main driveway creates two separate mixed-use areas, referred to in this analysis as the 
northeastern and northwestern portions of the site. 
 
The parking areas for the two northern portions of the site were designed independently, to provide ample 
parking for each area.  The northeastern portion includes a 100-space parking garage below the assisted living 
facility to be used by residents, employees, and visitors to the facility.  The northeastern portion also includes a 
169 surface parking spaces.  The northwestern portion of the site includes 190 garage parking spaces for 
apartment residents.  There will also be 231 surface parking spaces to be shared by the office and retail uses, as 
well as some apartment residents and visitors. 
 
The proposed development is currently in the planning stages and the specific tenants of the commercial areas 
are not known at this time.  Based on input from the developer’s design team, several assumptions were made 
about the types uses anticipated.  The team anticipates the retail uses as being specialty retail and service needs 
with some small café, local coffee shop, deli, and small restaurants included for the needs of the residential.  The 
sizes of these businesses would be 1,500 to 4,000 square feet.  Based on this input, the table on the following 
page indicates the land uses and sizes assumed for the shared parking analysis. 
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Shared Parking Analysis  
Land Uses 

Northwestern Portion Northeastern Portion 

Land Use Intensity Land Use Intensity 

Family Restaurant 3,000 Square Feet Family Restaurant 4,500 Square Feet 

Fine/Casual Dining 4,000 Square Feet Fine/Casual Dining 0 Square Feet 

Retail 8,200 Square Feet Retail 21,250 Square Feet 

Office 48,900 Square Feet Office 30,205 Square Feet 

Apartments 172 Units Apartments 0 Units 

Assisted Living 0 Units Assisted Living 84 Units 

 

Shared Parking Analysis 
In general, methodologies outlined in Shared Parking were used to perform the analysis. The parking demand was 
estimated for each land use in the proposed development based on weekday base parking ratios from Shared 
Parking, average weekday peak parking demand from Parking Generation published by the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE), or from local data for similar land uses. These ratios indicate the peak 
accumulation of vehicles at the peak hour for a single land use.   
 
Next the ratios for each land use were multiplied by a percentage for each hour of the day to indicate hourly 
variations in the demand for parking.  Similarly, seasonal variations are accounted for by applying a different 
percentage for each month of the year. The ratios and variations used in the analysis were obtained from Shared 
Parking, and are included with the analysis files in the Appendix at the end of this memorandum. The 
percentages used for the hourly and seasonal variations in this analysis are a weighted average of the 
visitor/guest and employee percentages.  
 
Retail Rates 
According to Shared Parking, the Community Shopping Center is the smallest retail category available to 
estimate parking demand, with a base parking ratio of 3.6 spaces per 1,000 sf of leasable space. This category 
includes all retail that is less than 400,000 square feet. The retail portion of the proposed development is much 
smaller than this (roughly 79,000 sf), and is anticipated to be smaller specialty type stores. These types of 
specialty stores typically do not generate as much traffic as a drug store or grocery store, which is categorized in 
the same land use.  
 
Given that the Community Shopping Center land use does not accurately describe the retail component of the 
proposed development, another source was used to determine an appropriate base ratio for parking demand. 
Parking Generation provides an average peak parking demand for a Shopping Center land use on a weekday of 
2.55 spaces per 1,000 sf. This average ratio is likely higher than the demand for parking in the proposed 
development, however it provides for a conservative analysis of shared parking conditions.  
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Office Rates 
The office land use would not be expected to be used as densely as other general office buildings.  The types of 
offices anticipated are professional offices such as law firms or stock brokers.  They would generally have small 
staff sizes, individual office work areas, and conference rooms. Due to these factors, the generic base parking 
ratio of 3.6 spaces per 1,000 sf from Shared Parking of was not utilized for the analysis. Instead the average peak 
parking demand for a suburban Office Building land use from Parking Generation was used. This ratio is 2.84 
spaces per 1,000 sf of leasable space. 
 
Apartment Rates 
The base parking rate of 1.65 in Shared Parking does not differentiate between one bedroom and two bedroom 
units, which can have different parking demands. The base parking ratio used for apartment residents in this 
analysis is 1.3 spaces per unit. This rate indicates one space per unit for one bedroom units, and two spaces per 
unit for two bedroom units. This rate was provided by the development team based on data from several recent 
local projects. Data was collected by EPC Real Estate Group from their developments at 51 Main in Kansas City, 
Missouri, and from the Village at Mission Farms in Overland Park, Kansas. At 51 Main, a 1.3 spaces per unit ratio 
was provided and found to have a surplus of 10 percent at peak times. The Village at Mission Farms provided a 
1.6 ratio, equating to one space per unit for one bedroom units and two spaces per unit for two bedroom units. 
This development was found to have a parking surplus of roughly 20 percent during peak times. The actual 
demand is closer to a 1.35 ratio, with more than half of the units having two bedrooms. 
 
For this shared parking analysis, the base parking ratio was reduced from 1.3 to 0.2 spaces per unit, as 85 
percent of the base parking ratio, or nearly all of the residents, will be accommodated in the 190 garage parking 
spaces, which will not be shared.  A few residents and the residential visitors will share the surface parking 
spaces. 
 
Captive Demand 
Shared Parking states that some reduction of customer parking needs occurs in a mixed-use development due to 
patronage of multiple land uses. These patrons are referred to as “captive” since they are already present at the 
site for another land use. Residents of the proposed development who visit the restaurants or shops would be 
considered captive, as they do not add to the demand for parking. This is the same for office workers at who 
shop or go to restaurants in the development. There is also potential for nearby residents, especially in the twin 
villas to walk to the restaurants or shops. Given these considerations, a reduction of 12 percent was applied to 
the base ratios for the restaurant and retail land uses to account for captive demand.  The 12 percent reduction 
matches the percentage of internally captured trips indicated in the traffic impact study for the proposed 
development. 
 
Assumptions 
Several factors in the analysis should be noted. First, the northeastern and northwestern portions of the site 
were analyzed separately as to not share parking across the main access drive. Second, the parking garage spaces 
are not included in the supply for the shared parking analysis as they will not be shared spaces. The Assisted 
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living land use is assume to be fully parked in the garage.  Since this land use will not require any shared parking 
it was not included in the analysis.   

Results 
The results of the analysis indicate that the parking supplies for the northeastern and northwestern portions are 
projected to be sufficient for all times of the year.  The most critical time periods are projected to be during the 
middle of the day in December. During those time periods, the parking will be close to 99 percent occupied. 
This analysis correlates with the fact that December is the peak month for most retail business because of 
holiday shopping.  
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2400 Pershing Road 
Suite 400 
Kansas City, MO 64108 
Tel 816 329 8600 
Fax 816 329 8601 

www.transystems.com 

 
July 24, 2018 
 
 
Mr. Rick Lashbrook 
Leawood 135, LLC 
P.O. Box 26170 
Overland Park, KS  66225 
 
RE: 135th Street and Kenneth Road Traffic Impact Study 
 Leawood, Kansas 
 
Dear Mr. Lashbrook: 
 
In response to your request and authorization, TranSystems has completed a traffic impact study for the 
proposed mixed-use development to be located generally in the southwest corner of the 135th Street 
and Kenneth Road intersection in Leawood, Kansas.  The purpose of this study was to assess the impact 
of the proposed development on the surrounding transportation system.   
 
Included in this study is a discussion of the anticipated impacts of the proposed development on the 
adjacent street network for the following analysis scenarios:   

 Existing Conditions 
 Existing Development Conditions 
 Future (Year 2040) Conditions 

 
We trust that the enclosed information proves beneficial to you and the City of Leawood in this phase 
of the development process.  We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and will be 
available to review this study at your convenience. 
 
Sincerely, 
TRANSYSTEMS 
 
 
 
By:__________________________________  

     
    Jeffrey J. Wilke, PE, PTOE          
     

 
JJW/jw:P101180207 
Enclosure 
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Introduction 
TranSystems has completed this traffic impact study for the proposed mixed-use development to be 
located generally in the southwest corner of the 135th Street and Kenneth Road intersection in 
Leawood, Kansas. The purpose of this study was to assess the impact of the proposed development on 
the surrounding transportation system. The location of the project relative to the major streets in the 
area is shown on Figure A-1 in Appendix A. 
 

In addition to a description of the proposed development and the surrounding transportation 
infrastructure, this study includes trip generation estimates, trip distribution estimates, capacity analyses, 
and a summary of findings.  

Proposed Development Plan 
The proposed development includes a variety of residential, office and retail land uses.  The southern 
portion of the site, generally south of 137th Street, includes 120 attached single-family residences called 
twin villas. The mixed-use component of the proposed development is north of 137th Street.  Several 
buildings are proposed in the northern portion with apartments, offices, retail, and an assisted living 
facility. A copy of the proposed site plan for the development is included on Figure A-2 for reference. 
 
There are two access points to the proposed development site. The main driveway to the site will be a 
new intersection that will extend south from 135th Street. The main driveway is located roughly 1,700 
feet east of the signalized intersection of 135th Street and Pawnee Street, and 900 feet west of the 
signalized intersection of 135th Street and Kenneth Road. The other access point to the site will be 
137th Street, which will be constructed west of Kenneth Road as a part of the proposed development 
plan. In the future, two more access points may become available on the west side of the site to 
Chadwick Street as future development occurs on adjacent parcels.  

Study Area 
To assess the impacts of the proposed development, the intersections listed below were identified for 
study during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours of a typical weekday.  

 135th Street and Kenneth Road 
 Site Driveways 

 
Surrounding Street Network and Land Uses 
The major road system in Johnson County is primarily a grid pattern with one-mile spacings on section 
lines.  One Hundred Thirty-Fifth (135th) Street is a four lane divided east/west thoroughfare that is part 
of the grid network.  Adjacent to the development site, 135th Street has a posted speed limit of 45 
m.p.h.  Kenneth Road is a two-lane collector street with a posted speed limit of 35 m.p.h.  Kenneth 
Road extends a short distance from 135th Street south to intersect Kenneth Parkway. North of 135th 
Street, the alignment of Kenneth Road becomes a long private driveway to a church. Currently, 137th 
Street does not extend to the development site. West of Chadwick Street, 137th Street is a two-lane 
collector street that parallels 135th Street. 
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The development site currently consists of undeveloped land with agricultural land uses.  The land to 
the north of the site across 135th Street is also undeveloped with some agricultural uses. It is 
anticipated to develop in the future with land uses similar to the proposed development.  South of the 
site are single-family villa type residences. To the west of the site there is a bank, a church, more villa 
type residences, and some undeveloped commercial lots. To the east of the site across Kenneth Road is 
undeveloped land that is anticipated to be commercial type development in the future.   
 
Traffic Counts 
Turning-movement traffic volume counts were collected at the study intersection on Tuesday, July 10, 
2018, from 7:00 to 9:00 A.M. and from 4:00 to 6:00 P.M.  Based on the data, the peak hours occur 
between 7:15 and 8:15 A.M., and between 4:45 and 5:45 P.M. The existing lane configurations, traffic 
control devices, and peak hour traffic volumes have been illustrated on Figure A-3. 

Analysis 
The scope of analysis for the assessment of the proposed development’s impact on the surrounding 
transportation system is based in large part on the recommended practices of the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE), as outlined in their Traffic Engineering Handbook. ITE is a nationally-
recognized organization of transportation professionals with members from both private and public 
sectors. The analysis of the proposed development’s impact included development of trip generation 
and trip distribution estimates as well as a traffic operations assessment for each study scenario. Each of 
the analysis methodologies and findings are described in the subsequent sections.   
 
Trip Generation  
Trip generation estimates were prepared using the Institute of Transportation Engineer’s Trip 
Generation, 10th Edition. Table 1 on the next page shows the expected trips to be generated by the 
proposed development.  Additional information related to trip generation is included in Appendix B. 
 
The proposed development includes office, retail, and residential land uses. Therefore, it can be assumed 
that when the development is fully built out, some of the customers of the retail businesses in the 
development will also live in the residential portion or work in the office portion of the development. 
These trips are said to be internal trips, because the origin and destination of the trips are within the 
development site. The ITE internal capture methodology was used to determine the number of trips 
internal to the site. The internal trips were not applied to the external street system. 
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 Table 1 
Proposed Development Trip Generation 

Land Use Intensity ITE 
Code 

Average 
Weekday 

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Total In Out Total In Out 
Single-Family 
Residential 

120 du 210 1,230 90 23 68 122 77 45 

Multifamily Housing 
(Low-Rise) 

172 du 220 1,260 80 18 62 96 60 36 

Assisted Living 84 du 254 219 16 10 6 22 8 14 

General Office 
Building 

79,150 sf 710 846 88 76 12 92 15 77 

Shopping Center 40,950 sf 820 3,277 173 107 66 308 148 160 

Subtotal Full Development Trips 6,832 447 234 213 640 308 332 

Internal Development Trips -- -- -- -- 79 40 39 

Total External Development Trips 6,832 447 234 213 561 268 293 

 
Trip Distribution 
The estimated trips generated by the proposed development were distributed onto the street system 
based on the trip distributions summarized in Table 2. These distributions are based on existing travel 
patterns in the area and engineering judgment. The detailed distribution patterns through the study 
intersections are shown in Appendix B.   
 

Table 2 
Trip Distribution 

Direction To/From Residential 
Percentage 

Commercial 
Percentage 

East on 135th Street 50% 45% 

West on 135th Street 45% 45% 

South on Kenneth Road 5% 10% 

Total 100% 100% 

 
Traffic Operation Assessment  
An assessment of traffic operations was made for the scenarios listed below.   

 Existing Conditions 
 Existing Development Conditions 
 Future (Year 2040) Conditions 
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The study intersections were evaluated using the Synchro traffic analysis software package. Calculations 
were performed based on the methodologies outlined in the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 2000 
Edition, which is published by the Transportation Research Board. The operating conditions at an 
intersection are graded by the “level of service” experienced by drivers. Level of service (LOS) describes 
the quality of traffic operating conditions and is rated from “A” to “F”. LOS A represents the least 
congested condition with free-flow movement of traffic and minimal delays. LOS F generally indicates 
severely congested conditions with excessive delays to motorists. Intermediate grades of B, C, D, and E 
reflect incremental increases in the average delay per stopped vehicle. Delay is measured in seconds per 
vehicle. Table 3 shows the upper limit of delay associated with each level of service for signalized and 
unsignalized intersections.  
 

Table 3 
Intersection Level of Service Delay Thresholds 

Level of Service 
(LOS) Signalized Unsignalized 

A ≤ 10 Seconds ≤ 10 Seconds 

B ≤ 20 Seconds ≤ 15 Seconds 

C ≤ 35 Seconds ≤ 25 Seconds 

D ≤ 55 Seconds ≤ 35 Seconds 

E ≤ 80 Seconds ≤ 50 Seconds 

F > 80 Seconds > 50 Seconds 

 
While LOS measurements apply to both signalized and unsignalized intersections, there are significant 
differences between how these intersections operate and how they are evaluated. LOS for signalized 
intersections reflects the operation of the intersection as a whole. 
 
Unsignalized intersections, in contrast, are evaluated based on the movement groupings which are 
required to yield to other traffic. Typically, these are the left turns off of the major street and the side-
street approaches for two-way stop-controlled intersections. At unsignalized intersections lower LOS 
ratings (D, E and F) do not, in themselves, indicate the need for additional improvements. Many times 
there are convenient alternative routes to avoid the longer delays. Other times the volumes on the 
unsignalized approaches are relatively minor when compared to the major street traffic, and 
improvements such as traffic signal installation may increase the average delay to all users of the 
intersection. 
 
The decision to install a traffic signal, which is often considered when lower LOS ratings are projected, 
should be based on engineering studies and the warrants for traffic signal installation as outlined in the 
Federal Highway Administration’s Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). Signals are 
typically not recommended in locations where there are convenient alternative paths, or if the 
installation of a traffic signal would have negative impacts on the surrounding transportation system.  
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The LOS rating deemed acceptable varies by community, facility type and traffic control device. Most 
communities in the region have identified LOS D as the minimum desirable goal for signalized 
intersections. However, at unsignalized intersections LOS D, E, or even F are often considered 
acceptable for low to moderate traffic volumes where the installation of a traffic signal is not warranted 
by the conditions at the intersection, or the location has been deemed undesirable for signalization.  
 
Traffic queues were also evaluated as part of the analyses. Long traffic queues which extend beyond the 
amount of storage available, either between intersections or within turn lanes, can have significant 
impacts on operations. The projected vehicular queues were analyzed to ensure the analyses are 
reflective of the physical constraints of the study intersections and to identify if additional storage is 
needed for turn lanes. 
 
Existing Conditions 
The results of the Existing Conditions intersection analyses are summarized in Table 4. The study 
intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and traffic control devices 
shown on Figure A-3. The current signal timing and coordination plans for the study intersection was 
used for the analysis of the traffic signals in this scenario. The Synchro output files are included in 
Appendix C.   
 

Table 4 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing Conditions 
Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 
135th Street and Kenneth Road 

Traffic Signal 
 
A 

 
10.0 

 
A 

 
8.5 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 
The results of the analysis indicates that the existing signalized intersection operates at acceptable levels 
of service during the A.M. and P.M. peak hour with minimal queuing. This is due to the very low volume 
of traffic on Kenneth Road, which allows the signal to provide green indications for eastbound and 
westbound traffic on 135th Street for more than 75 percent of the cycle length. 
 
Given the low volume of side street traffic, the traffic counts were compared to the minimum 
thresholds of the Peak Hour traffic signal warrant from the MUTCD. The graph  of the warrant analysis 
is included in Appendix C. The results of the warrant analysis indicate that the existing volumes do not 
satisfy the minimum traffic volume threshold for traffic signal installation. Therefore it is likely that the 
existing traffic signal at 135th Street and Kenneth Road is not warranted. 
 
It is worth noting that during the traffic counts long queues of eastbound traffic were observed during 
the P.M. peak hour. These queues extended back from the signalized intersection of 135th Street and 
State Line Road, which is roughly 1,100 feet to the east of Kenneth Road. This is due to the high volume 
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of eastbound through traffic at that intersection. These long queues frequently extended through the 
intersection with Kenneth Road from approximately 4:50 P.M. to 5:20 P.M.  The long queues did clear 
out of the intersection during each cycle of the signal at 135th Street and State Line Road. 
 
There is little that can be done in the short-term to address the long eastbound queues that were 
observed. Widening 135th Street in Leawood for a third eastbound through lane will not reduce the 
eastbound queues.  A third eastbound lane would need to be constructed east through the State Line 
Road intersection, and possibly through other intersections to the east, to serve the heavy eastbound 
through volume. Such an improvement will require coordination with the Missouri Department of 
Transportation, as 135th Street becomes M-150 Highway to the east of State Line Road. 
 
City of Leawood staff desires traffic signals to be installed at a minimum spacing of one-quarter mile 
apart along the 135th Street corridor. This allows ample distance for queuing and for coordinating traffic 
signals to provide progression for through traffic. The location of the signalized 135th Street and 
Kenneth Road intersection is less than the desired spacing from State Line Road. 
 
Existing plus Proposed Development Conditions 
The location of the proposed development’s main driveway intersection along 135th Street is 900 feet 
from Kenneth Road, which is less than one-quarter mile. Therefore, the intersection would not be 
considered a candidate for signalization. Without a signal at the main driveway all development traffic to 
and from westbound 135th Street to make left-turn maneuvers at the 135th Street and Kenneth Road 
intersection. This would add side street traffic to the intersection which is currently blocked by queues 
at times during the P.M. peak hour. Given that the existing traffic signal is likely unwarranted, it is 
appropriate to consider removal of the existing traffic signal at 135th Street and Kenneth Road, and 
installation of a traffic signal at the main driveway intersection instead.  
 
The decision to remove the existing traffic signal at 135th Street and Kenneth Road must be evaluated in 
terms of the overall street network. The existing signal at Kenneth Road would provide full access to 
future developments on the undeveloped properties to the east of Kenneth Road. However, these 
properties are surrounded by a network of other arterial and collector streets that can also provide full 
access to these properties. The east side of these properties have access to existing traffic signals along 
State Line Road. A well planned internal street network through these properties can take advantage of 
the existing signalized access points. 
 
With the signal at Kenneth Road is removed, the main driveway intersection would be an appropriate 
location for a traffic signal installation. The projected traffic volumes from full build out of the 
development do satisfy the peak hour signal warrant. The main driveway intersection is spaced nearly 
one-half mile along 135th Street from the signalized State Line Road intersection. The main driveway 
intersection is also spaced slightly more than one-quarter mile east of Chadwick Street, which will likely 
be signalized in the future as development occurs.  The result is that the main driveway would be the 
only signalized intersection along 135th Street between Chadwick Street and State Line Road. These 
spacings exceed the City’s desired minimum spacing between signals. 
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As a stop controlled intersection, the 135th Street and Kenneth Road intersection, drivers would 
experience lengthy delays making left-turn and crossing maneuvers from the side street approaches. 
Therefore these movements should be restricted by a raised island within the intersection area. The 
island would continue to allow eastbound and westbound left-turn movements, but restrict the side 
street approaches to right-turns only. For the island configuration to be effective in restricting these 
movements, an eastbound left-turn lane will be needed at the intersection. 
 
Changing access at the 135th Street and Kenneth Road intersection will alter the existing traffic 
volumes. The northbound left-turn movement will no longer be permitted. These northbound drivers 
on Kenneth Road will have to turn left onto 137th Street, travel through the development site, and then 
turn left onto the Main Driveway to access westbound 135th Street. The existing traffic volumes were 
redistributed in this manner for the Existing plus Proposed Development Conditions intersections 
analyses. 
 
To accommodate development traffic and the aforementioned traffic control modifications, the following 
improvements are identified. 
 
135th Street and Kenneth Road 

 Remove the existing traffic signal.  Install Stop signs for northbound and southbound traffic. 
 Construct a raised island along 135th Street within the intersection area to restrict northbound 

and southbound left-turn and crossing maneuvers. The median should allow eastbound and 
westbound left-turn maneuvers. 

 Construct an eastbound left-turn lane with 250 feet of storage plus appropriate taper.  
 

135th Street and Main Driveway 
 Install a traffic signal. 
 Construct a westbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 300 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct an eastbound right-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate 

taper. 
 Construct three northbound lanes on the Main Driveway exiting the site, to be used as a right-

turn lane and dual left-turn lanes. The right-turn lane and one left-turn lane should have 
minimum lengths of 200 feet plus appropriate tapers. 

 
The results of the Existing plus Proposed Development Conditions intersection analyses are summarized 
on the following page in Table 5. This study scenario considered the addition of traffic from the 
proposed development plan. The study intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic 
volumes, and traffic control devices shown on Figure A-4. The new traffic signal was evaluated in this 
scenario with the same cycle lengths as the current coordination plans for the corridor. The Synchro 
output files are included in Appendix C.  
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Table 5 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Development Conditions 
Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 
135th Street and Main Driveway 

Traffic Signal 
 
B 

 
14.3 

 
B 

 
16.1 

135th Street and Kenneth Road 
Eastbound Left-Turn 

Westbound Left-Turn 
Northbound Right-Turn 
Southbound Right-Turn 

 
C 
A 
A 
C 

 
17.2 
9.8 
9.6 
17.3 

 
B 
C 
B 
B 

 
12.4 
18.9 
11.6 
13.1 

137th Street and Kenneth Road 
Eastbound Left-Turn 

Northbound Shared Left-Turn/Through 

 
B 
A 

 
10.1 
7.5 

 
A 
A 

 
9.4 
7.2 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 
As shown in Table 5, each study intersection is projected to operate within acceptable levels of service 
during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours. All queues are projected to be contained within their respective 
turn lanes. 
 
Future (Year 2040) Conditions 
To estimate future conditions in year 2040 background traffic growth was assumed. An annual growth 
rate of two percent was applied to the existing traffic volumes on 135th Street. It is assumed that when 
the property to the north of the development site across 135th Street develops, an access point will 
align with the signalized Main Driveway intersection. To analyze future conditions at the signalized 
intersection, the same development trips and distribution projected on the south leg of the intersection 
are assumed for the north leg. This is a fair approximation since a similar type of development is 
expected in this area.  Similar future development trips are also assumed on Kenneth Road for when the 
property to the east is developed, except these volumes were scaled to 25 percent, since the property 
to the east is only 25 percent of the size of the proposed development site. 
 
The additional background growth results in a very heavy volume of through traffic on 135th Street. To 
support the increased volume, 135th Street will need to be widened to provide three through lanes in 
each direction. Also, the traffic signal at 135th Street and Main Driveway will need to be split phased for 
northbound and southbound traffic to allow one of the dual left-turn lanes to function as a shared 
through lane. These additional lanes and signal modifications are included in the Future Conditions 
intersection analyses.  
 
The results of the Future Conditions intersection analyses are summarized on the next page in Table 6. 
The study intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and traffic control 
devices shown on Figure A-5. The traffic signal timings for the 135th Street corridor were optimized for 
this scenario. The Synchro output files are included in Appendix C.   
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Table 6 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Development Conditions 
Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 
135th Street and Main Driveway 

Traffic Signal 
 
C 

 
33.6 

 
D 

 
50.0 

135th Street and Kenneth Road 
Eastbound Left-Turn 

Westbound Left-Turn 
Northbound Right-Turn 
Southbound Right-Turn 

 
D 
B 
A 
C 

 
34.7 
11.7 
9.2 
18.8 

 
B 
A 
C 
B 

 
12.4 
9.8 
12.2 
13.1 

137th Street and Kenneth Road 
Eastbound Left-Turn 

Northbound Shared Left-Turn/Through 

 
B 
A 

 
10.1 
6.4 

 
B 
A 

 
10.0 
6.1 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 
The results shown in the table indicate that all study intersections are projected to operate at an 
acceptable level of service in the future conditions scenario. Some lengthy queues of eastbound and 
westbound through traffic are projected during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours.  All other queues are 
projected to be contained within their respective turn lanes. 
 
When 137th Street is continuous from the development site west to Chadwick Street, there will be 
another access point to the development site.  This additional connection has the potential to reduce 
the northbound left-turn volume and the eastbound right-turn volume at the 135th Street and Main 
Driveway intersection by 10 to 30 percent. These reductions are not enough to have a significant impact 
on the results of the analysis for the study intersections. 
 

Summary 
TranSystems has completed this traffic impact study for the proposed mixed-use development to be 
located generally in the southwest corner of the 135th Street and Kenneth Road intersection in 
Leawood, Kansas. The purpose of this study was to assess the impact of the proposed development on 
the surrounding transportation system.    
 
The Existing Conditions analyses found that the traffic signal at the 135th Street and Kenneth Road 
intersection does not meet the minimum vehicular volumes for a traffic signal installation, and it is not 
likely that the signal is warranted. Additionally, the signal is located roughly 1,100 feet west of the 
signalized intersection with State Line Road. This spacing is less than the City’s minimum spacing of one-
quarter mile between signals along the 135th Street corridor. During the P.M. peak hour, long queues of 
eastbound through traffic on 135th Street extend through the Kenneth Road intersection.  
 
In light of these findings, the Kenneth Road intersection is not an ideal location for a signalized 
intersection and signal removal should be considered. A traffic signal could then be installed at the 
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development’s main driveway intersection along 135th Street. This location would provide greater 
separation between signals, meeting the City’s desired spacing for signals along the corridor. 
 
The following improvements have been identified for the Existing plus Development Conditions 
scenario. 
 
135th Street and Kenneth Road 

 Remove the existing traffic signal.  Install Stop signs for northbound and southbound traffic. 
 Construct a raised median along 135th Street within the intersection area to restrict 

northbound and southbound left-turn and crossing maneuvers. The median should allow 
eastbound and westbound left-turn maneuvers. 

 Construct an eastbound left-turn lane with 250 feet of storage plus appropriate taper. 
 
135th Street and Main Driveway 

 Install a traffic signal. 
 Construct a westbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 300 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct an eastbound right-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate 

taper. 
 Construct three northbound lanes on the Main Driveway exiting the site, to be used as a right-

turn lane and dual left-turn lanes. The right-turn lane and one left-turn lane should have 
minimum lengths of 200 feet plus appropriate tapers. 

 
In the Future Conditions scenario, 135th Street will need to be widened to provide three through lanes 
in each direction. 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

January 28, 2020 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, 

Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the November 26, 2019 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On Page 33, Ms. Knight should be in place of Ms. Bennett. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  On Page 11, the first paragraph shows Comm. Peterson, but it wasn’t 

me. Also, beginning on Page 19 and carrying through the rest of the document, it should 

be “Petersen” and not “Peterson.” 

 

A motion to approve the minutes from the November 26, 2019 Planning 

Commission meeting as amended was made by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

CONTINUED TO THE FEBRUARY 25, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION 

MEETING: CASE 01-20 – CORNERSTONE OF LEAWOOD – ONSPRING 

HEADQUARTERS – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th 

Street and east of Nall Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  

CASE 02-20 – LEAWOOD ESTATES – LOT 9 & PARTIAL LOT 8 – RESIDENTIAL 

EMERGENCY GENERATOR – Request for approval of a Final Landscape Plan, located 

north of 95th Street and east of High Drive.  
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CASE 03-20 – HALLBROOK EAST VILLAGE – SECOND PLAT – Request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 112TH Street and west of State Line 

Road.  

 

CASE 05-20 – STONE LEDGE SUBDIVISION – SECOND PLAT – Request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 154th Street and east of Nall Avenue.  

 

CASE 07-20 – PARK PLACE – ENGEL & VOLKERS – Request for approval of a Final 

Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, located north of 117th Street and east 

of Nall Avenue. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I don’t think it’s necessary to pull the case, but I have a question on 

Case 03-20. What is the reason for going from three lots to two lots? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  The potential owners want a larger lot for their house. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  I have a related question. When three lots are rezoned as two lots, are 

the lots renumbered with Johnson County Records? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They will be renumbered. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there other questions? If not, I’ll entertain a motion.  

 

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Hoyt; seconded by Stevens. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
CASE 04-20 – 135 STREET AND KENNETH – MIXED USE AND MEDIUM 

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, located 

south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 04-20 – 135th Street and Kenneth Road – Mixed Use and 

Medium Density Residential – request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan for 

property located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road. Staff would like to 

make a change to Stipulation No. 1A. It should read, “The project is limited to the 

following: 410,200 square feet of construction on 18.25 acres for an F.A.R. (Floor Area 

Ratio) of 0.43 with a 55% discount for residential within the MX-D zoned portion of the 

development. That shall meet the requirements of the LDO (Leawood Development 

Ordinance). This matches what was previously approved Preliminary Plan. 

 With this case, the applicant is proposing a couple different changes from the 

previously approved Preliminary Plan. The first has to do with the phasing of the project. 

Previously, all the residential units were to be constructed in the first phase, including the 

richards
Arrow
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units south of 137th Street and the units north of 137th Street on the west side. The 

proposed change is to have the duplex and triplex units south of 137th Street be 

constructed first with a common area at the intersection of High Drive and 137th in a 

second phase with the third phase consisting of the residential units north of 137th Street. 

The second proposed change is to the stipulations previously agreed upon by staff. You 

have a table on the dais to show you the proposed changes. These are newer than what is 

in the Staff Report. These stipulations the applicant would like deleted or modified have 

to do with the applicant not wanting to construct the public improvements on 135th Street, 

including the construction of a third lane and burial of power and utility lines. Multiple 

developments along the 135th Street Corridor have equally conformed to these regulations 

to construct or pay into escrow for the construction of public improvements along street 

frontages as the construction progresses. This includes developments such as Market 

Square and Plaza Pointe. The developments that have three lanes of traffic along 135th 

Street have already done the projects. Staff is asking for this process to continue what has 

already occurred with those developments. The applicant has verified that no other 

changes are being made to the previously approved plan, including the construction of 

137th Street from Chadwick to Kenneth, the Mixed-use portion facing 135th Street, and 

the number of residential units in the whole design of the project. The only changes are 

the stipulations and phasing. Staff recommends denial of Case 04-20 in order to keep the 

previously approved Preliminary Plan in effect. I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Sanchez? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Is the primary nature of staff’s objections the public improvement and not 

the phasing? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is correct. We would want those constructed in the first phase. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It’s not the phasing itself that is the issue; it is their desire to delay some of 

the public improvements. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is the main issue; however, staff was happy with what was previously 

submitted. We would like to revert back to that. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  I have a question related to the position of the third lane eastbound. I 

assume it’s going from Chadwick to Kenneth or State Line. 

 

Mr. Ley:  The third lane is constructed along their frontage of the development. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  In addition to that, there will be turn lanes, correct? 

 

Mr. Ley:  Correct. 

 

Comm. Block:  Could you remind me of the history of the homes north of 137th Street? I 

didn’t think homes would be in the very first iteration, and they were added. Now, they 
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are in a later phase. Didn’t they get some kind of variance to include those homes on the 

north side of 137th Street? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I believe those have always been shown on the plans as being part of the 

first phase. There is a mixed-use portion that includes apartments, retail, and offices. 

Those have always been shown in a later phase. They want the part that is north of 137th 

Street to be in its own phase. 

 

Comm. Block:  On the Public Works document, it refers to stipulations highlighted in 

bold print, but I didn’t see anything highlighted in bold. I couldn’t decipher what was 

new and what was old. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If I’m not mistaken, the handout has some of that clarified. 

 

Mr. Ley:  The stipulations were changed from the original plan. We updated the 

stipulations to match what was approved at City Council. There were stormwater issues 

we had on the prior approved plan. There was a stipulation that stated the developer 

would work with staff to create some amenities. Those were updated to reflect what was 

actually approved.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  Would it help if you point out the changes? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  On the handout, you’ll see that Stipulation No. 4 stayed the same, but the 

applicant would like to delete it. No. 7 has a change with the word “approved” in the last 

line. No. 8 has a sentence added before, “however” from the Staff Report. No. 32 appears 

to be the same as the Staff Report. No. 2(C)I refers to the Public Works memo and 

remained the same. In that same section, wording changed but seems to have a lot of the 

same language. No. 2(C)3 changed to match what was in the new Public Works memo. 

They are requesting to change the timing. The current stipulation requires the fee to be 

paid prior to the city releasing the Final Plat; the proposal is to require the fee prior to the 

city releasing the Final Plat for Tracts G and H. No. 7 was previously deleted, and the 

applicant would like to delete it on this one as well. They added text to it, and it reads the 

same as what we previously included. No. 19 is a new stipulation that was not in the 

previous plan, and it was not in the Staff Report. No. 20 was the previous No. 13, and it 

has the same language that it had before; however, they want to phase all the public 

improvements. I believe the applicant will be able to go more in depth with the 

stipulations they wish to change.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  Mr. Sanchez, I don’t recall an applicant asking for some of these 

things to be changed, either in the preliminary part of our hearing or after the fact. I 

assume this is not normal. Could staff comment on that? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Staff did research on the previous developments along 137th Street. Similar 

language was either converted to them or part of the stipulations. To my knowledge, none 

of those developments had any pushback, or they did not communicate that to staff. We 
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had these stipulations in the first plan, and at Final Plan, some of them went forward with 

that as well. This is the applicant wanting to come back and change the stipulations.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  With respect to the phasing of the residential areas, does staff oppose 

that? You said you would prefer the original, but when push comes to shove, is staff 

opposed to changing the phasing? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I don’t believe we would be opposed to phasing the residential. The 

applicant may be able to talk about it more. If it is all one phase, they would have to 

construct all the public improvements, which would also mean creating the road north of 

137th Street into the separate cul de sac for those residential units. I’m assuming they 

would like to push that off until they are ready to do that other phase.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I don’t think I want to ask you to go through each of the stipulation 

modifications again, but I’m curious as to staff’s position with respect to the 

modifications. It’s obvious to me that staff is opposed to deleting No. 4. Beyond that, can 

you highlight which of the modifications staff opposes? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Would be okay with changing the wording on No. 7. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Maybe I’m misreading this, but I thought the bigger issue with No. 7 is 

that the current stipulation says that it will be under a single set of construction plans, and 

the modification is that it’s under a separate set of plans. That seems to be the bigger 

issue. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I think staff is okay with phasing the development project as long as the 

public improvements that were in the original approval are associated with those phases 

in a reasonable manner. Of course, the additional villas north of 137th are in the third 

phase, so that street would have to be built at that time. The other mixed-use 

developments on 135th Street should have the third lane, burial of power lines, and other 

public improvements done along with it. We would agree that we don’t necessarily want 

an extra third lane when it is not necessary. There is no time frame associated with any of 

the phasing, so we don’t know if the land on 135th Street will be developed in two years 

or ten years. We’re amenable to having the improvements phased, but it is the city’s 

policy that the improvements are made by the developer and not the city. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  You’re okay with their sense of timing. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I want to hone down on the issues of contention, then. With respect to 

the other requested modifications to the stipulations, are there others that staff stands 

opposed to? I just don’t want to have Mr. Petersen have to go through them all if there 

are some that you are agreeable to. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Regarding No. 8, we would want the developer to be responsible for the 

burial of utilities on 135th Street.  
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Mr. Coleman:  We would want No. 32 to stand as it is. We also want No. 2(C)I to stand 

as it is. 

 

Mr. Ley:  Regarding 2(C)II, we want to make sure they understand that they would still 

be responsible for the third lane if they construct High Drive with Phase One. It just 

depends on when High Drive would be constructed. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  How about No. 2(C)III? 

 

Mr. Ley:  The concern Public Works has with this one is if they construct the High Drive 

intersection in the roadway and the development on the north side comes in prior to 

Phase Four or Phase Five, traffic signals could be warranted and we would not have the 

50% match for the signal. We would still want to collect the escrow up front if they’re 

going to construct High Drive with Phase One. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  No. 7? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We would want it to remain as it is. We don’t want to delete or change it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  No. 19? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We’re okay with modifying it to read how they wrote it to match the phases. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  And No. 20? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We would be okay with the proposed modification.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ve narrowed the issues a bit. What I understand is there is not 

agreement with respect to Nos. 4, 7, 8, 32, Public Works Memo Nos. 2(C)I, 2(C)II, and 

2(C)III. With that, I would invite the applicant to step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

John Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, 6201 College Boulevard, appeared before the 

Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’re grateful to be here with what we feel is a great project for the city. 

The most important people in the room are Richard and Rick Lashbrook, principals of 

Leawood 135, LLC. The give and take helped quite a bit so we can zero in on the issues 

before us, but I feel a few prefatory comments might help. Some of you were here in 

December, 2018 when we brought this project before you. It is a vertical and horizontal 

mixed-use project. It is approximately a 56-acre tract that is intended to be developed 

with a variety of uses, including attached villas to the south along 137th and then two 

pods of more vertical mixed-use product with residential over retail, office, and senior 

living adjacent to 135th Street. The plan before you is the exact plan. As time has gone 

on, the developer has been resolute in confirming the intent to develop the plan. The 

dream was to move the entire development forward in a sequential fashion. The 
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stipulations we’re going to talk about contemplated that. For the record, we agreed to 

every stipulation under consideration this evening with the idea that we had a plan in 

front of use that we would execute if the market cooperated. I can speak to the 135th 

Street Corridor and people who have made the wrong decision, which is to put tens of 

millions of dollars into horizontal infrastructure, hoping that the development would 

come in and bring a return on investment. I would respectfully ask you to take note that 

the 135th Street Corridor, despite tens of millions of dollars of additional lanes, reverse 

frontage roads, and sewage systems, remains essentially undeveloped. These developers 

are serious about developing in the City of Leawood, but they’re not going to make that 

mistake. To pull the vertical pieces into position, they needed partners with expertise and 

committed capital. It’s fair to say every single well-known mixed-use developer was 

approached. Every alternative was considered, and there is not a taker for those front 

pieces. In large part, it is because of the heavy burden of infrastructure costs. We’re here 

today to do two things that staff articulated well. One involves phasing in the different 

components of the attached villa project, largely due to financing and timing. Banks will 

finance when they see product coming behind. There are certain banks that didn’t provide 

that due diligence, which is why several pieces of property along 135th Street have now 

gone through four changes of hands. We’re trying to avoid that. Additionally, there is 

phasing of public infrastructure. We’re going to ask that some of it be eliminated in its 

entirety, but also to modify some elements to not require the infrastructure to be added 

when we start the first villa, which is how the stipulation reads today. I understand that 

we are asking the Planning Commission to make decisions about policy of financing 

public streets and burying power lines. I understand one might say it is not in the purview 

of the Planning Commission but rather the Governing Body, but there is a process. The 

only way to change stipulations is to come through this process to reach the Governing 

Body. I’m not saying we’re wasting your time because your input is valuable.  

 (Shows plan on monitor) The plan was always to have villas north of 137th Street, 

which results in three phases. The amenity area sits where High Drive ends coming in off 

135th Street. We’re now proposing five phases. Phase One would be villas south of 137th; 

Phase Two would be the amenity; Phase Three is the balance of the villa product, 

designed to allow us to phase in and not put the street in until we’re ready for that phase; 

Phase Four is the pod west of High Drive; Phase Five is the mixed-use portion east of 

High Drive.  

 Moving on to stipulations, I’d like to give you some financial comparisons to 

explain why we are proposing the changes. No. 4 is one we would like deleted. It 

indicates that we would build a third lane on 135th Street. We would still be responsible 

for any deceleration and right-turn lanes both at High Drive and at the right-in access on 

the most eastern mixed-use pod, but we would like to be released from the responsibility 

to build that third lane. I’ll speak later about the cost, the traffic report, and the purpose of 

that third lane. Staff alluded to the fact that we would be building it for no reason at this 

point because it goes nowhere until Missouri does something. No. 7 is one we have staff 

support on. This breaks away from the idea that when construction begins on the villas, 

all the public improvements need to be designed at the same time. We understand that we 

can phase some of those improvements. No. 8 addresses power lines and is a similar 

situation. We ask that it be removed and modified to the extent that it is talking about 

power lines that run immediately adjacent to 135th Street and not any power lines that are 
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internal or any electrical service provided internal to the site. We’re not asking to be 

relieved from that responsibility, but we’re asking to be relieved from the responsibility 

to bury the existing power lines along 135th Street. No. 32 says that there are other 

requirements in the Public Works memo, which is the normal process for Leawood. 

We’re not asking to eliminate it; we’re just asking that it be shored up to any changes we 

do in the Public Works memo, which includes re-dating the memo. Moving to the Public 

Works memo and No. 2(C)I, we’re asking that it be deleted because it is another bite at 

the apple on the additional lane along 135th Street. No. 2(C)II goes a bit to timing. We 

understand we will do the right turn lanes at High Drive and do the right turn lanes in the 

future when the eastern pad is developed. We are asking for a modification that preserves 

the responsibility for us to do our deceleration and turn lanes at those identified 

intersections but eliminating the overall lane widening or additional lane construction for 

135th. No. 2(C)III goes to the traffic signal. Right now, we would be required to pay that 

escrow in with the villas. High Drive will be built with this portion of the project, as will 

137th. I don’t think anyone anticipates that there will be a need for signalization with the 

addition of these villas. This is based on a need. The stipulation could be fashioned that 

would require payment when the signal is warranted. It could be 5-6 years, so to ask for 

payment now is a financial tug at the development. No. 7 refers to the burial of power 

lines, and we want to be sure we’re being consistent and we’re talking about the KCP&L 

lines that currently exist along 135th, and we’re asking for relief from that obligation. Any 

requirements for any other electrical service in the interior of our site, including 137th 

Street, would not be below ground. I think we have agreement on Nos. 19 and 20, which 

goes to phasing and doing the public improvements when they are needed. That is a very 

quick overview of what you had from staff. I’d like to speak to why we’re coming back 

after we have agreed to a plan. Committed development costs include construction of 

137th Street from Chadwick to Kenneth Road, High Drive, cul de sac streets, signalized 

intersection, and eastbound right turn lanes. The deceleration and right-turn lanes would 

be done immediately and are a large portion of the overall costs of that additional 

southern lane on 135th Street because all the utilities need to be relocated. The issues 

we’re talking about in the stipulations are over $7.5 million. To add the burial of power 

lines increases that number by $1,650,000 and another $450,000 to finish the widening of 

the third lane. It’s a showstopper, even to those who are still in discussions about 

bringing multi-family living over retail. For the record, we have other impact fees that 

relate to traffic. We’re not asking for relief from the 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee, 

from the Public Art Impact Fee, or the South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee. That 

approaches another $500,000. I go back to the traffic study to put the third lane in some 

context. This was studied in a traffic report with a 2040 projection. Until Missouri builds 

a third lane, this lane would go nowhere.  

 To summarize, our request is to approve the new phasing plan in terms of the 

northern portion of the villas. With each stipulation, whether it be from the Planning 

Department or Public Works, we are seeking the relief we requested. With that, I’m 

happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Petersen? 
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Comm. Hoyt:  Could you go back to the slide that showed the costs that you expect to 

incur if the third lane were added? (slide displayed) These are isolated costs. What is the 

total cost of the entire project? I’m trying to determine the scope of this portion to the 

entire project. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It’s probably a relatively small percentage. Off the top of my head, I’m 

going to guess it’s 2%. That’s unfortunately not the way a financing structure is put 

together. The infrastructure doesn’t produce income. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:   You also said this isn’t the total cost of all the infrastructure changes you 

are making. What is the total of all the infrastructure changes? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  $2.1 million. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Didn’t you say the deceleration lanes are included in the $7.5 million? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  To restate and emphasize, these costs are the costs attributed to the 

stipulations we’re discussing. There are numerous other costs. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  That’s what I’m trying to figure out. I’d like to know all those other ones 

that don’t generate income but are costs nevertheless. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I wouldn’t know that off the top of my head. I’ll let them figure it. 

 

Comm. Block:  Do you have visuals of the lanes? I’m having trouble understanding 

where the deceleration lanes are and where the third lane fits into that. I don’t know what 

you’re proposing to delete and what you’ve committed to in the past. It seems the 

deceleration lane would be further into the project, If you’re going to delete the third 

lane, you’re proposing to put a deceleration lane where that would go, which would have 

to be ripped out down the road to add a third lane, and then a deceleration lane would 

have to be moved further into the project. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  There will be setbacks and right-of-way to enable that. As I indicated, all 

the utilities have been moved out of the way; it is really just breaking the curb and 

moving the curb line in. 

 

Comm. Block:  I thought you indicated you did not want to move all those utilities. 

They’ll be moved in far enough? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The underground utilities in that area include water, sewer, and probably 

fiber. To do our deceleration lanes, we’ll have to move all of those. 

 

Comm. Block:  Will you move them far enough to account for that third lane? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’ll move them into the expanded right-of-way. 
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Comm. Block:  You’ll do both of the yellow lines with the first phase? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Again, we have a modification to the stipulations. The one to the west of 

High Drive would be done as part of the villas; the one to the right is the entrance point 

for the eastern portion of the mixed-use development on the east side of High Drive along 

135th We are proposing to do that when that portion of the development actually gets 

started. 

 

Comm. Block:  So, it goes to another street that would not be constructed until Phase 

Five? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir.  

 

Comm. Block:  You would build High Drive, 137th Street, not the cul de sac north of 

137th Street and not the street that goes east. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Correct.  

 

Comm. Block:  Why would you not have to bury the power lines at any point in any of 

these five phases? Why would you be able to not do that, based on what’s happened 

elsewhere in the city and the LDO? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We want to have a project we can finance. We can’t find anybody that is 

willing to take that as part of the deal. When we get to Governing Body, I assume they’ll 

have other alternatives for making these public improvements that may not put the 

burden on each project but do a more corridor-wide solution. We know today we can’t 

afford to bury those power lines at $1.6 million and bring a partner in to develop the 

mixed-use. Right now, we have to do what they want with the villas. We can’t live with 

that; that’s just a non-start. Villaggio is an example. Times were good then. They buried 

power lines and put in all the streets. I don’t need to tell you what’s happened to that 

property. I know that property sold the last time in foreclosure for the amount of the 

assessments only, and it’s back in a distressed state again. It can’t be done in this day and 

age. It couldn’t be done then, quite honestly. I’m not being critical of the developers, but 

it can’t be done. Those power lines are not there because of the ramifications of this 

project. Those power lines are there because KCP&L won’t bury their own power lines; 

they make the cities do it if they want it done. Then the cities tell the developers to do it. 

Some cities don’t require it. Overland Park doesn’t require it. It all adds up, and $2 

million could be a small percentage of all the other investment that comes in, but those 

amounts can make or break projects. We need some help on two things that we’ve 

identified. Anything that our development impacts on the public and requires 

improvements, we’ll pay for: turn lanes, signalization, complete construction of 137th 

Street because our activity generates the need. We aren’t causing the need for a third lane 

on 135th Street. There is no traffic study that shows that. Also, KCP&L won’t bury their 

own power lines, and it’s an aesthetic issue. 
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Comm. Block:  Regarding the traffic signal, I don’t know how the 50% was determined, 

but I assume this part of the project is going to contribute to extra traffic. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’re not arguing with the 50%; that’s typical. 

 

Comm. Block:  But you don’t want to put any of that money into escrow today. We can’t 

come back five years from now because you may or may not be the owners at the time. I 

don’t understand how you want to push that off and not escrow that now if you agree that 

50% of the cost is yours. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It does happen in other communities. The commercial portion will be the 

contributing factor for the south side of the street and the need for signalization. We don’t 

want to have to escrow with the villas. We want the escrow requirement to be phased; we 

don’t want the escrow requirement to be tripped by the villa development. 

 

Comm. Block:  Is it half of $165,000 or all of it? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  $165,000 represents half of the estimated costs. 

 

Comm. Block:  When would you put it in? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  At the beginning of development of the Mixed-use portion. 

 

Comm. Block:  Which could be ten years from now. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Correct, or the city would have the right to come back against that property 

as an assessment. 

 

Comm. Block:  So, the HOA is going to collect and escrow $165,000? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We suggested that it be on the commercial property. 

 

Comm. Block:  It just doesn’t make sense to me. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The avoidance of trying to put together all the costs we’re facing to start 

the villa project, including bringing in a public road that will serve commercial traffic as 

well with High Drive, through the deceleration lane, which is primarily needed for High 

Drive, at least half of the lane-widening on 135th Street, leads us to consider the 

signalization as an extra cost that will sit in escrow for potentially ten years. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Mr. Petersen, if I recall correctly, this is the third time this 

development has been before this commission; is that correct? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  At least. 
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Comm. Coleman:  Part of what I’m struggling with is why these issues did not come up 

the first time, second time, third time, or fourth time. Is it just the money issue that has 

now come to light? These are standard things that I’ve seen go through on other projects. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Projects are approved, and developers think there’s a chance to do it, but 

the arbiter in your world is that it’s required for the project. The arbiter in our world is the 

market. I know you’re not suggesting this, but it could be that we say we’ll agree to it just 

to come back and ask to have it removed. That is not the case at all. This is very common 

as an approval gets tested in the market. We’re not going to take risks that border on 

gambling, so we come back and ask for a modification. To ask for modifications three 

times on a project this size in my world is nothing. It was good faith taking our 

requirements to the market, but every single multi-family MX-D developer in your city 

crunched the numbers and said we needed to get rid of these costs. Out of $10 million, 

we’re coming back for $2.1 million for projects that we don’t impact. We’re going to get 

a mixed-use partner in here. I bet we’ll be back again because there will be something in 

here we’ll have to tweak to make a high-quality project that didn’t fit squarely into a 

more theoretical approach. If there could be a financing mechanism put forth by the city 

where one project didn’t have to take $2 million of these public improvements that many 

cities don’t require at all and others do as part of their Public Works projects. I’m not 

suggesting Leawood should do that. I recall an effort early on in the 135th Street Corridor 

to spread it out all the way back from 133rd to 137th. That made sense, but it fell apart and 

couldn’t be done. We’re trying to get things started. Everything that is needed to handle 

our project, we’ll pay for, but we need a little help. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  You said it would be interesting if a funding mechanism could be 

developed that would share the costs. Of the $2.1 million, what would seem to be a 

reasonable share of that? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  There are different methodologies, part by the city at large because there 

are a lot of people utilizing and enjoying the aesthetics of no power poles. It could be 

based on square footage. Villaggio did it with $9 million that got paid down to $6 

million. City bonds are out there that have been in default for a long time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’ve got a series of questions, but let’s focus on the power lines first 

because that’s been a longstanding issue. I’m thinking about the idea, “Don’t oppose 

unless you have propose to go with it.” What would be your “propose” for burying the 

power lines? It’s a good discussion on policy. What would you have Governing Body do 

with respect to power lines? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You’re going to get me in all sorts of trouble. I’m not speaking on behalf 

of my clients; I’m speaking on behalf of myself. It’s a city aesthetic issue. If the city 

wants power lines buried, then I think the city needs to step up and help bury power lines, 

or there should be incentives. Where you see them buried in other cities is when there 

was an incentive. It is an extraordinary cost. KCP&L does the work; it can’t be bid out. 

It’s honestly a public investment to bury the power lines by allowing tax dollars to be 

diverted to reduce the costs. In Overland Park at 115th Street and Nall, the city didn’t 
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require burying the power lines. We got a CID approved there, and one of the conditions 

was that the power lines are buried. I would think maintenance of streets would be a 

higher priority than aesthetics. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  One of the things that concerns me about the power lines is a concern 

that, if we don’t address it now, we’ll have the same situation that we had for years at 95th 

and Mission. That is that it won’t be your clients dealing with it, but 40 years from now, 

when it comes time to redevelop what your clients have put together, we’ll deal with it 

then. I’m really concerned about that. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That’s being addressed at Ranch Mart.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Even with an incentive package, your clients are ready to move 

forward now. If the city could see clear to give you relief on that now and we, as a city, 

come up with some CID or other incentive program, how would your clients then be 

qualified to contribute at that point in time since they already have their investment in the 

ground and going? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That is a conversation to be had as we move through the process. We’d be 

open to having that discussion, but to get there, I have to stand on the points I’ve made 

this evening. We would hopefully anticipate a side discussion to not only solve it for this 

project but for other projects as well.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  You mentioned in your presentation that you and your clients believe 

it would be appropriate to invest in the escrow at such time when the traffic signal is 

warranted. How would we collectively determine when a light is warranted? Is it when 

your folks decide or the city? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That’s your responsibility typically. Cities determine when it is time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there a consensus right now that it’s not warranted today or at the 

time that your first phase is happening? 

 

Mr. Ley:  I believe they’re just doing a right-in, right-out. Is that correct? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes. 

 

Mr. Ley:  They’re not going to have a westbound left turn lane. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  So, there is no dispute that the light is not warranted at this time. 

 

Mr. Ley:  That’s correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  But prior practice would be to escrow the money at the first instance. 
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Mr. Ley:  We started that policy about five years ago. Prior to that, we had the developers 

install signals upfront because we were anticipating all the development to occur. They 

would like to change the stipulation to have them pay when the signal is warranted, but 

then the problem is that we have to try to find the person to collect money from. It makes 

it difficult. That’s why we try to collect the money upfront.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Dropping back to the power lines, when would it be appropriate to 

bury the power lines, Mr. Petersen? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Probably when the ultimate improvements are done to 135th. I don’t know 

exactly where they sit in the right-of-way. The frustrating part is if we just do public 

streets and it’s a city project, the utility company moves them. If it’s a developer, the 

developer moves them. That happens on a fairly regular basis. The immense cost is in 

burying the power lines.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It seems like the best time to bury the power lines if on the front end. I 

understand what you’re saying about the financing issues, but wouldn’t you agree that, if 

financing were available, the best time would be before the development goes into place? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  In a perfect world, it would be the best time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I have a question about the third lane. You mentioned a couple times 

that the traffic studies available indicate there is not really a need for that third lane until 

2040. Frankly, I didn’t see that in your record anywhere. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It’s in the traffic study that was part of the original. I’m not sure if that 

land will ever be built because it doesn’t go anywhere. It dies at State Line.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  The record we have before us is a traffic study suggests 2040 is the 

earliest a third lane would be justified? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It’s clearly not required as part of this development, and the analysis was 

done under the 2040 condition.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I suspect this may be a bit out of order, but under the LDO, do we 

even have the authority to grant removal of the stipulations relative to the power lines and 

the third lane? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You have the power to recommend on any land use plan. As part of any 

recommendation of any land use plan or ordinance adopting a zoning category or 

stipulation, you have the right to recommend on any stipulation. I started out by saying 

that you may say it sounds like a policy issue, but I do think you have the authority to 

make a recommendation based on any stipulation. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Would we be recommending on the face of it a violation of a standing 

provision of the LDO? 
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Mr. Petersen:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  You’re saying the Governing Body could move forward with this 

without amending the LDO.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  I think they could, yes. This is no different than if we had a traffic study 

that said that the project would be developed and gave levels of service and delays for the 

intersection, leading you to make a recommendation of an acceptable level of service. I 

think the necessity for a third lane of a road and an aesthetic issue of burying power lines 

is in the realm of reviewing a development plan. I think the city could not require it and 

not be in violation of the LDO. There may be a policy that would have to be considered. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  To your knowledge, is there an LDO provision that requires power 

lines to be buried? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  If there is, I’m not aware of it.  

 

Chairman Elkins: We’ve understood that there is a requirement to bury the power lines, 

but I’ve never asked if the requirement stems from the LDO or from a policy. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I’ve never seen it codified.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have a view on either the lane expansion or the burying of 

the power lines? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  For the burying of the power lines, under Public Utilities and Public 

Safety Uses, there are statements that refer to developments burying the power lines. It’s 

Section 16-1-4.1.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there anything about the lane expansion? 

 

Mr. Ley:  Along 135th Street, we’ve always required the developers to do the third lane. 

The city has a fee schedule that addresses arterial street fees. If a developer constructs 

adjacent to an arterial street, there is a requirement to pay $783 per foot of frontage. It is 

actually half that cost, but that is the cost going from a collector to an arterial. The 

developer at 135th and Mission had to do the lane widening of 135th Street as well as 

paying the linear footage for that improvement. We had the same situation at 

Cornerstone. They paid $783 divided by two because it falls on the center line.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’re paying that. 

 

Mr. Ley:  I don’t think that’s part of the stipulations because you’re not adjacent to an 

arterial street.  

 



Leawood Planning Commission - 16 - January 28, 2020 

Mr. Petersen:  Richard cited the code for power lines, and we’re adhering to that. The 

onsite have to be buried but not transmission lines in a thoroughfare right-of-way that we 

happen to be adjacent to. I think there’s a distinction there, and I made it in my 

presentation.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I understand there is room for discussion. I was trying to get an 

understanding of the parameters in our current ordinance. Are there other questions? 

 

Comm. Block:  Along the same lines of the traffic signal, is it codified? 

 

Mr. Ley:  The city hasn’t paid for signals when a developer creates an intersection.  

 

Comm. Block:  I’m curious if the requirement to have the developer put money in escrow 

for the traffic signal is supported by the LDO. 

 

Mr. Ley:  Each case is considered individually based on the traffic study.  

 

Comm. Block:  I understand that each situation is different as to whether it needs a signal 

or not, but how do you make the determination as to when they need to escrow for that 

signal. You say the signal will be necessary in whatever period of time; what are you 

hanging your hat on to make sure they put that money in escrow today? 

 

Mr. Ley:  Typically, we collect upfront. 

 

Comm. Block:  Based on what?  

 

Mr. Ley:  The traffic study. 

 

Comm. Block:  Is there a policy to support that decision? 

 

Mr. Ley:  The policy is they have to do a traffic study and address their traffic impacts to 

the city. That is where the stipulation comes in. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It is on a case-by-case basis with the general policy. I draw a distinction 

here, and that is that until the commercial is developed and the median is broken, there is 

no intersection. We’re not breaking it as part of the villas. Under the circumstances, we 

think a fair proposal is to look at when they start developing the commercial or when it is 

warranted, whichever comes first.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’m not sure I followed all of Mr. Coleman’s reference to the LDO, but 

a colleague pointed out that in Section 16-1-4.1 at the end, it says, “In the case of a new 

or amended Preliminary or Final Plan or Plat, the owner/developer and/or applicant shall 

be responsible for placing all existing utilities underground prior to issuance of a building 

or occupancy permit or at such time mandated by the approved plan or plat.” In your 

view, Mr. Petersen, does what you’re proposing fall in compliance with that? 
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Mr. Petersen:  All the utilities that will be on our property will be buried. These aren’t on 

our property; they’re on the public right-of-way. New utilities, we are burying.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  Mr. Petersen, do I read correctly that there are approximately 117 

villas planned? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  What is the average projected sale price per villa? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  As I recall, around $600,000 per unit. It’s a healthy price. We’re trying to 

have good options in that price range. Again, that speaks to the economics. If we’re 

getting $2 million a site, we have a bit more flexibility to address aesthetics. In a position 

such as this with us coming back, it comes down to what is proposed in that commercial 

development is state-of-the-art vertical mixed-use. What makes it good is another really 

expensive structured parking. Then, with another $2 million to bury power lines is 

extensive. The alternative is to bring down the quality of the structured parking, which is 

not their intent, but it’s a piece of straw out of the haystack. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? Thank you, Mr. Petersen. Under the LDO, a case 

such as this provides for a Public Hearing. Before we begin, we’ll allow four minutes for 

comments. We would also appreciate avoiding replicating comments. We want input 

from the community, and we’ve spent a considerable amount of time talking about policy 

tonight. I think that was the applicant’s intent to provide that record for the Governing 

Body. 

 

Public Hearing 

Kevin Jeffries, 13451 Briar Drive, Leawood Economic Development Council, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Jeffries:  To speak to the policy issues you are talking about tonight, to let you know, 

the Economic Development Council (EDC) has been discussing the concept of the 

widening of 135th Street and if it should be a public project, much like 143rd and Mission 

Road and part of our Capital Improvement Program. Should we utilize financing 

mechanisms like TIF (Tax Increment Financing), which has typically been kind of a bad 

word to use in Leawood. If you really look into what a TIF is, it’s not really a giveaway; 

it's another way of financing a project. When taxes go up on the property because the 

property has improved, some of that is captured. Tax abatements come back and help pay 

for those infrastructure improvements. I think for 20-30 years, we have said it’s a terrible 

thing, but I think it’s something we might want to at least look at in certain circumstances 

where there is a big public benefit. I think if we want Leawood to look different, this is a 

great opportunity for us to take that stand and do a little something like that. The EDC 

has been encouraging discussions about a lot of infrastructure, including the widening of 

135th Street and coordinating with Missouri. In the mornings, there is a huge bottleneck. 

There are so many people coming in to Johnson County from Missouri that those extra 

westbound lanes might be warranted. That would relieve some of that congestion. Again, 
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that serves all of Leawood and Johnson County, so I suspect the county might help pay 

for some of that. Mr. Ley would know better about the CARS program and what would 

qualify. I think the hodge-podge we have now is a game. I’ve been trapped more than 

once in the wrong lane. I just think it’s something we need to look at the future as 

opposed to putting it on individual developers. Thank you very much. 

 

As no one else was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made 

by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 8-0. For: 

McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Petersen, do you wish to respond? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You asked about the 2040 analysis on the third lane. The traffic study that 

serves as the basis for the approval is on Page 8 of your packet.  

 

Chairman Elkins: Thank you. That will be part of the record. Mr. Petersen, did you have 

anything else to add to the record at this point? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That brings us to a discussion by the commission. We have some 

weighty issues before us.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It seems like there are a couple of non-weighty issues in terms of being 

agreed to in principle, and that’s the phasing of the development and the phasing of the 

Public Works. We’re really strictly looking at the issue of not building the third lane on 

135th Street and not burying the 135th Street utilities.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I also heard an issue about escrow. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It seems like there could be some finessing of the language to give the city 

the option to call in the escrow at the point the city determines the need is present or 

imminent. I don’t know if that’s the way the other commissioners see what we have in 

front of us. 

 

Chairman Elkins: I think that’s a fair statement. The issue is trying to think of how we 

can best bring this to a conclusion: whether we consider each item individually and then 

act upon the application in total. Before we get into the technicalities, let’s get some 

commentary from the commissioners about what they think on this whole issue of the 

city’s prior practice of addressing the infrastructure improvements and burying the power 

lines. Power lines have been an issue as long as I’ve been a resident, so I’m curious to 

hear what the commissioners’ thoughts are on our prior practice, our current practice, and 

what Mr. Petersen and his clients are proposing. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  I would say we don’t have the authority to make that decision based on 

the current wording of the LDO. In terms of theoretical situations and if the city needs to 
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change, I’d be open to options. I look forward to seeing development in the city. I’d be 

willing to look at different options. I think Governing Body should look at different 

options, but I don’t think that’s before us right now, and I don’t think we can make that 

decision.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I have concerns of changing things from the way we’ve done them in 

the past. A lot of these requirements are required of all of our developers. I don’t think 

we’ve asked anything out of the ordinary with the plan we and City Council approved. 

I’m also concerned about precedent if we alter things at this point from the normal way 

we conduct business in relation to the LDO and the way we hold developers to a certain 

set of standards that we’ve applied on everyone. I have some grave concerns with that. 

Part of this is going to be going to City Council for them to make decisions on what to 

do. We have to look at what’s before us now as opposed to trying to make changes to the 

way we normally do things on the fly.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think that’s probably correct; although, I do know for a fact that 

Governing Body looks to our discussion to help inform them around the policy decisions. 

I don’t disagree with Commissioner Coleman or Commissioner Hunter that it may well 

be outside our ability to move forward, but the discussion is very worthwhile. That is 

why we have the process we do. I concur with both of you that it’s probably the case with 

respect to what we can do, but I think it’s appropriate for us to offer discussion. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I agree completely with what both of you have said. I think we’re in 

short-term and long-term mode. Short-term mode is tonight and the decision we have 

associated with that. I agree with the precedent-setting concept. On the flipside, I think 

over a longer period of time, it ought to be assessed whether there are other options and 

something that makes more sense that creates more development that is successful over 

time. It feels to me that we’ve got two different time frames, and it would be seemingly 

odd to combine them into one time frame.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments? I guess the observation I would have is that I tend to 

agree with Commissioner Coleman that there’s a certain sense of fairness about the fact 

that historically, we’ve required developers to put in this infrastructure, to bury the power 

lines, to do the other things we’ve talked about tonight. On the other hand, I’ve been 

looking at the 135th Street Corridor for over 20 years now as a resident. We’ve gone 

through at least two, if not three, iterations of a special corridor development plan. Yet, 

we sit out there today without really any active development. It would suggest to me that 

now is the time for the city to consider some radical changes from what we’ve done in 

the past, even though it has served us well to date. I don’t know that it’s a fair comparison 

to look at 135th Street to the west. My sense is that, while there is infrastructure and 

buildings, I don’t know how economically viable a lot of those developments to the west 

of Nall are. In some ways, it may not be much different than Mr. Petersen’s reference to 

Villaggio. That remains to be seen. I’m about to a point in my own personal journey here 

with thinking that the city may need to rethink the approach to some of these things and 

perhaps, as Mr. Jeffries said, consider some sort of public-private partnership. That’s my 

observation from watching all these years and seeing plan after plan. We’ve seen this, 
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and I don’t know that we’ve seen a whole lot of change in the plan. I don’t know of the 

most recent plan for 135th Street encouraged or discouraged Mr. Petersen’s clients from 

moving forward, but there still seem to be obstacles in the way of successful 

development. Maybe there’s a developer right around the corner. It is concerning that 

we’ve tried the old ways for so long and just haven’t seemed to make much progress. 

Other comments? 

 

Comm. Stevens:  I think it’s supportive of this development the way it has come together 

and has been designed with the distribution of uses, especially the phasing, which makes 

a lot of sense, assessing the phases with the infrastructure as they are needed. It is 

interesting to do Phase One and that infrastructure that’s part of it and that none of that 

really affects these two improvements of widening the lanes or burying the power across 

135th. I know it’s not part of what the ordinance calls for because it’s one development, 

and once it has started, the frontage should be improved on 135th. It could be a way to 

also phase that improvement. I guess kicking off Phase Four and then Phase Five, when 

the real need for those improvements along 135th. Phase One and even Phase Two and 

Phase Three really aren’t part of these last two items that we’re debating over. It’s an 

interesting way of looking at this development and how it’s come together that it seems 

like that could even be a possibility to attach those improvements to the later phases.  

 

Comm. Block:  I had a similar thought through this process as well. What’s before us 

tonight is just to not do the power lanes or the third lane at all. If you kick it to Phases 

Four and Five, that development becomes unattainable for sure. I don’t think we can 

deviate, and I don’t want to deviate as a Leawood resident with what the Governing Body 

has done with Mission to bury power lines. It’s important to the Governing Body and to 

us as residents. Maybe the solution is the escrow. If 50% because it’s a master 

development goes into escrow, when the other developments kick off, they put in the 

other half. This portion of the development then puts in the fair share so it’s there when 

it’s needed.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I sort of like that idea. I was thinking the same thing. There’s a timing 

issue in all of this that isn’t quite gelling, especially with the additional lane on 135th 

Street. It seems a little out of proportion to the first phase of the project. I don’t know 

because I don’t understand exactly where all the digging is going to have to happen for 

various things to occur, but in the past, a lot of the logic of doing infrastructure 

throughout the city is if you’re digging up the street to do one thing, you go ahead and do 

everything that could be done while the street is dug up. At the point where 135th Street 

has to be dug into for one reason or another, that would be the time to bury the power 

lines.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  I had a real problem with putting the burden of the third lane on the 

developer when the traffic study has determined that it is not needed for some time. On 

top of that, there’s the additional turning lanes. I kind of view that as overkill. I don’t 

know how we could modify that or suggest modifying it. The biggest problem I had was 

with requiring the developer to pay for that third lane. I don’t know how often you go 

down 135th, but there’s really not a traffic problem because there’s nothing around there. 
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The other issue I have is putting the burden of burying the existing power lines, 

especially transmission lines, on the developer. There should be some way to work with 

the city or the county to do that, which is what is happening on Mission Road from 119th 

to 127th. The city is only paying for part of that. The county is paying for part of it. Those 

are existing lines that have been there for 30 or 40 years. Those are my two main issues. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. I guess the one point is that you need to remember that we 

are planning for 178 townhomes to go in there, and shortly after that, a commercial 

development. Presumably, that will draw more traffic. It may not justify the third lane for 

the entire way, but we need to consider the additional demand. I understand that the 

traffic study suggests that even with the burden of this development on 135th Street, it 

won’t justify that third lane until sometime near 2040, but it is certainly something for us 

to keep in mind.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  One thing that occurred to me, especially when the residential homes 

go in, in the final phases, is that it is going to clearly increase the traffic problem, but 

we’re only putting in a third lane eastbound, not westbound. There’s no one developing 

north of 135th, but all the burden for the third lane eastbound goes upon the applicant. 

What happens to the third lane if it’s required? Who’s going to finance that when it goes 

westbound? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Under the current program, it would fall to whoever develops that 

space along the north side of 135th.  

 

Comm. Block:  I live down that way, and it might not warrant that lane now, but I 

definitely think of rush hour, and 135th from Mission all the way to Wyandotte on the 

Missouri side is well traveled. This is a year and a half old. I assume not much has 

changed since then, but how much life span does a traffic study have? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We work with the traffic engineer upfront to try to calculate the 2040 counts. 

It’s not like they look at what’s going to happen in 2025, 2030, until they come to the 

magic number that it is going to be warranted. We’re looking at full buildout in 2040, so 

that’s when everything around the full area is completely developed. If that occurs in 

2030, that lane is warranted in 2030. It’s just an estimate. In 2030, we’ll be looking at 

2050 traffic models, and that is a full buildout. As far as the counts, they’re typically 

good for a couple years, so it depends on the growth and how much new development is 

occurring in Overland Park and also into Missouri. If a new development comes in, in a 

year, they would be required to do new traffic counts and project those future accounts. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think we’re ready to discuss this. I think the way I would like to 

approach it is take it in four different pieces. I’d like the commission to weight in by vote 

how we feel about the phasing for both the development of the residential space and the 

phasing of the infrastructure as one item. I’d like to take the escrow of the traffic light as 

a second item and then the relief to the developer for the burying of the power lines as the 

third. Then, as a fourth, the relief for the widening of the lanes on 135th Street. I think I 
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know how those will go out, but once we’ve gone through those exercises, we’ll see how 

we stand for the plan in total.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  Would it be possible to take a five-minute break? 

 

Five-minute recess 

 

Chairman Elkins:  As I indicated prior to our break, my plan is to take up each of the four 

issues individually and then see where we are with respect to the overall plan and perhaps 

vote on the plan in its total, based on the outcome of those four issues. We’ll see how it 

goes as to whether we need to take each stipulation individually when the time comes. Do 

I hear a motion with respect to the issue of the stipulations relating to the phasing of the 

residential space and the infrastructure going along with it. 

 

A motion to approve the stipulations with regard to phasing, including No 19 – was 

made by Coleman. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll take it up as an overall issue with the idea that staff can make 

conforming changes to the case. 

 

Motion seconded by Hoyt. 
 

Chairman Elkins:  Discussion on the motion related to phasing of the residential and 

infrastructure. 

 

Motion carried with a with a unanimous vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, 

Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The second issue relates to the escrow for the traffic signal proposed in 

the plan. Is there a motion relative to the idea of the relief requested by the applicant, 

relative to the escrow for that stoplight? 

 

A motion to approve the requested escrow relief with the additional provision added 

that the city would have the option to call for the money at its discretion if it has 

evidence that a shorter timeline is necessary – was made by Hoyt; seconded by 

Belzer. 
 

Chairman Elkins:  Any discussion? 

 

Comm. Block:  I’m going to vote no because I don’t think it’s a realistic ask. The 

developer is potentially going to be long gone. Once these 171 units or this first phase 

even is done, the developer has no responsibility. Then, it is on the homeowners, the 

HOA, and whatever that entity is that’s remaining. This developer is going to sell and 

move on to the next thing. I don’t think there’s any going back in 6-7 years and getting it. 

It’s either now or we release them. 
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Chairman Elkins:  You’re assuming the developer is going to abandon the commercial 

development and just not do it, despite the fact they have an approved plan for it? 

 

Comm. Block:  If I read the interact meeting notes correctly, they don’t have control over 

those other parcels for these other phases. My understanding is they don’t even own the 

land we’re talking about; it is just under contract. They don’t own all 57 acres.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I agree with Commissioner Block. When it comes to getting funds for 

escrow, there’s a reason they’re upfront. There are too many downsides, and I don’t feel 

comfortable with splitting that cost up.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  Can we ask for an answer to that? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think we’re probably past that point. Commissioner Hunter, I’d 

welcome your thoughts on the subject. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  Do we have the authority to approve how money is held by the city for 

that use?  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I don’t know the answer to that question. The issue we’re dealing with 

here is if we have the authority to insist on the applicant putting money into escrow, 

which is a slightly different question.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  Isn’t it also our recommendation to Governing Body for them to take 

into consideration? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Yes, it is a recommendation. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  We’re not necessarily saying it’s written as law; this is our 

recommendation to Governing Body for their consideration.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It strikes me that the need for the stoplight will probably be triggered 

more by the commercial development than the residential. If it’s not this developer that 

develops the residential space, that would be the appropriate place for the escrow. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Is it fair to say that in the phasing concept that included the phasing 

of the infrastructure, we’ve already answered the point that we would assume the light 

would come later anyway and the question now is all about the escrow? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Yes. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  Could we recommend that we tie the escrow to the traffic light at the 

time of Phase Five? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We could, but there’s a pending motion to not do so. 
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Comm. Block:  Mr. Petersen agreed that 50% of the cost was theirs; he just doesn’t want 

to pay today. The 171 units are causing half of the impact that is going to require that 

traffic signal is how I understood what he’s saying. He is saying he wants to put the 

money in closer to when it’s going to trigger the need. I think if we don’t get it in the 

bank today, I don’t think we’re going to get it.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  Related to the phasing, I have a suggestion. We have five phases. 

Phase One is the main area of the duplexes. Phase Two is basically the community 

swimming pool, etc. Phase Three begins the northern portion. Regarding the traffic 

signal, Phases 1-3 are more than 50% of the total land area, but not necessarily traffic. 

The stoplight in question and potentially the triggering of the escrow could perhaps be 

triggered at the beginning of Phase Three versus Phases Four or Five. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It is certainly something to consider, but we have a motion pending. 

We’ll dispose of that and move forward how we think it’s appropriate. 

 

Motion withdrawn by Comm. Hoyt; second withdrawn by Belzer.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does Commissioner Peterson have a motion? It doesn’t have to be tied 

to a particular stipulation 

 

A motion to recommend that the escrow is triggered according to the 50% schedule 

as outlined in the applicant’s response at the beginning of Phase Three of the 

project, as outlined in Sheet A, dated December 20th – was made by Peterson; 

seconded by McGurren.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Discussion on Commissioner Peterson’s motion? 

 

Comm. Block:  I have the same concerns. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I don’t know about amending this motion again, but I believe it’s at 

Phase Four and not Phase Three where the impact would occur and where the breaking of 

the median would take place. 

 

Motion amended to change “Phase Three” to “Phase Four” by Peterson; seconded 

by McGurren.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  I agree with Commissioner Block. If it is at Phase Three when villas 

are still to be built, it is doable and likely; if it is at Phase Four or Phase Five, it is 

unlikely. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other discussion? 

 

Motion did not carry with a vote of 3-5. For: Stevens, Peterson, and Belzer. 

Opposed: McGurren, Hunter, Hoyt, Coleman, Block. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Where does that leave us on the stoplight? It leaves us with no relief 

on the stoplight. Let’s move to the question of the buried utilities. Is there a motion on the 

applicant’s request for relief from the obligation to bury the utilities? It could be that we 

don’t recommend the relief. 

 

A motion to recommend the city and the developer work out a plan through which 

there may be some relief associated with burying the power lines, but if it does not 

come, the exemption of cost associated with burying the power lines would be denied 

– was made by McGurren; seconded by Peterson. Motion with a vote of 5-4, 

including an affirmative vote from the chairman. For: McGurren, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Peterson, and Elkins. Opposed: Hunter, Stevens, Block, and Coleman. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll go to the last of the major issues raised by this application, 

which relates to the relief requested by the applicant from the city’s proposed obligation 

to provide a third lane on 135th Street, eastbound. 

 

A motion to recommend that 50% of the escrow for the third lane until Phase 4 

begins, and the developer of the fourth and fifth phase would be responsible for the 

remainder – was made by Block. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Just to clarify, it would be 50% when Phase One begins; 50% when 

Phase Four begins. 

 

Comm. Block:  I think the other 50% would be borne by whoever develops Phases Four 

and Five. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  50%? 

 

Comm. Block:  We were discussing the conundrum of potentially different ownership. I 

might be wrong, but that’s what I thought I read. When that final portion begins, I 

understand it’s a Master Plan submission to us. They’re asking to be totally relieved of 

this responsibility; I’m saying they should come halfway. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Wasn’t it $485,000, so it would be half of that? 

 

Comm. Block:  Yes. 

 

Motion seconded by Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Is there discussion? 

 

Motion carried with a vote of 7-1. For: Peterson, Stevens, Block, Coleman, Belzer, 

Hoyt, McGurren. Opposed: Hunter. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to the overall plan that was presented to us. My 

perspective on what I’ve heard is that the plan as presented by the applicant has portions 
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we are unwilling to recommend to the Governing Body for approval. That should drive 

your recommendation to the plan. The motion could be either a recommendation for the 

plan to be approved or denied in total. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  As we either deny or endorse the proposal in its entirety, does there not 

need to be some reference to those other votes we just took? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Those are in our record. We’ve got to do one or the other. 

 

A motion to recommend denial of CASE 04-20 – 135 STREET AND KENNETH – 

MIXED USE AND MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - Request for approval of 

a Revised Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road 

– was made by Hoyt; seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a unanimous 

vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Stevens, and 

Peterson. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Thank you for your time. That was hard work, and the commentary was 

rich and will be useful as we move forward. 

 

CASE 06-20 – 2019 ANNUAL UPDATE TO THE CITY OF LEAWOOD 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – Request for approval of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 06-20 – Annual Update to the City of Leawood 

Comprehensive Plan for 2019. As the Planning Commission may remember, there was a 

work session held on November 12, 2019. At that meeting, staff presented some changes 

to the Comprehensive Plan Map, and I would like to refresh the Planning Commission on 

those changes. 

 (Refers to plan diagrams) The first change to the map was at 9609 Lee Boulevard, 

which is the Fire Station in North Leawood. The city recently purchased that property to 

the south, and what the Comprehensive Plan is showing is that land that had previously 

been purchased to be shown as public use for the future of the area that will soon be 

redeveloped. The second change that staff made is to a property on 133rd and Mission 

Road, currently, the location of the Kleinwood building. Previously, it had been shown as 

mixed use. Being that the property is already developed and has been for several years 

now, we just want to reflect what is existing on the property, which is office. Also on 

135th Street and Kenneth Road, we had redone the alignment of the road per the previous 

Preliminary Plan that was approved, and now this plan that just went through. We 

updated the future roads and the road alignment with what was previously approved and 

the zoning as well. The zoning changed from MX-D to show the current zoning they got 

approved. On 137th and Kenneth, just east of the development we talked about is a small 

triangular piece, and it just made more sense as an office use. Another change would be 

at 151st and Mission Road to update some of the streets that have already been 




	11-20 GB Packet.pdf
	11-20 GB Staff Report 03.16.20 - mk
	11-20 Attachments
	PCMeetingMinutes_Case11-20




